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November 23, 2022

The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The City of Mebane, North Carolina's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is submitted for your review and use.
The City's Finance Department prepared this report, which is the comprehensive publication of the City's financial
position and results of operations as of and for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. Like all other local governments
in the State, the City is required by state law to publish a complete set of financial statements within four months of
the close of each fiscal year. In addition, the financial statements must be presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a
licensed, certified public accountant firm. This report is published to fulfill that requirement for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2022, and to provide further accountability to citizens and other interested parties by providing a more
comprehensive report in lieu of the minimum basic financial statement requirements.

City management is responsible for both the data's accuracy and the report's completeness and fairness.
Accordingly, city management has established a comprehensive framework of internal controls to ensure the
reliability of the information. Internal controls protect the City's assets from loss, theft, and misuse and provide
reliable information for preparing this report. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their
benefits, the City's controls were designed to provide reasonable, rather than an absolute, assurance that the
financial statements are free of any material misstatements. As management, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, this financial report is complete, accurate, and reliable in all material respects.

As noted earlier, the City is required by state law to have an annual independent financial audit. Stout, Stuart,
McGowen & King, LLP, conducted the audit and concluded in an unmodified ("clean") opinion that the financial
statements present fairly in conformity with GAAP, in all material respects, the financial position and changes in
financial position for the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2022. The independent auditors' report on
the basic financial statements is at the beginning of the financial section of this report.

Management's discussion and analysis of the basic financial statements (MD&A) immediately follows the
independent auditors' report and provides a prescribed narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic
financial statements. The MD&A is designed to complement this letter of transmittal and should be read in
conjunction with it.

Profile of the City

The town was named for Brigadier General Alexander Mebane of the North Carolina Militia and a member of
Congress in the 1790s. In 1855, the railroad arrived, and Mebane was incorporated in 1881 as the town of
Mebanesville. The name was officially changed to Mebane in 1883. The charter was amended to the City of Mebane
in February 1987. Also in 1881, Mebane's industrial growth began with the establishment of the former White
Furniture Company, followed by the Mebane Bedding Company (now Kingsdown) in 1904 and the Ridgeville
Telephone Company (now Centurylink Communications) in 1907.

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St.| Mebane, NC 27302 0 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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The City of Mebane is located in the Piedmont Triad Region of North Carolina, about 45 minutes west of Raleigh, the
State capital, 20 minutes west of Research Triangle Park, and 20 minutes east of Greensboro, the State's third largest
City. The City has a land area of approximately twelve square miles and a population of 18,116. Mebane is the second
largest of ten municipalities on the eastern border of Alamance County. The City is located mainly in Alamance
County, with about 28% of it in Orange County.

The City is governed by the council-manager form of government. Policymaking and legislative authority are vested
in the City Council, consisting of the Mayor and five Council Members. The City Council is responsible, among other
things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring the City's manager and
attorney. The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, overseeing
the day-to-day operations of the City, and appointing the heads of the various departments. Five Council Members
and the Mayor are elected to four-year staggered terms. The Council then selects the Mayor Pro-tem from within
the Council membership.

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the maintenance of streets and other
infrastructure; planning and building inspections; solid waste and recycling services; water and sewer services;
recreational and cultural activities; and a library. In the 1970s, the City of Mebane and the City of Graham began a
joint venture to develop a single water supply for both cities. This intergovernmental cooperation led to the creation
of the Graham-Mebane Lake, which supplies drinking water to both towns. The City of Graham operates the water
treatment plant and manages all lake operations, with half of the costs paid by the City of Mebane and half borne
by the City of Graham. In FY17, Mebane entered into an agreement to buy 750,000 gallons per day of Graham's
sewer capacity.

The Mebane City Council is required to adopt a budget by July 1 of each year. The City is empowered to levy a
property tax on real estate and personal properties within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state statute to
extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the governing
board. The City's budget ordinance creates a legal limit on spending authorizations and serves as the foundation for
Mebane's financial planning and control. The budget is prepared by fund and department. The budget ordinance
authorizes the City Manager to make transfers within funds to facilitate budget execution consistent with Council
intent.
Local Economy

Mebane is uniquely located between two metropolitan areas, the Triangle, and the Triad. Mebane has and
continues to lead the area in new homebuilding. This trend is expected to continue as we grow like other
Triangle fringe cities. In addition, the trend of increased retail spending is expected to continue and grow
stronger as the population of Mebane grows. Interest in the commercial and downtown sector could result in
these categories of development creating stand-alone projects versus recent mixed-use approaches. At the
October 2022 meeting, the Council approved the re-zoning of 5.74 acres downtown from heavy manufacturing
to a central business conditional district to make way for a planned unit development to consist of 217
apartment units, retail space, and 4,200 square feet of event space.

Industrial development also continues in Mebane. UPS is building a $262 million facility that will employ 451 full-
time positions. Thermo Fisher is building a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility in Mebane that is expected to
create 150-200 jobs. In addition, Sunlight Batteries will invest $40 million in a new manufacturing site in the North
Carolina Commerce Park in Mebane and create 130 jobs. These facilities demonstrate Mebane's prime location on
the Interstate 85/40 corridor that links two of the fastest-growing metro areas on the East Coast. At one end, the
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Research Triangle Park region of Raleigh, Durham and Chapel Hill; at the other, the Piedmont Triad region of
Greensboro, Winston-Salem, and High Point. The City of Mebane is at the heart of this corridor, where the total
resources of the region come together to create exceptional opportunities for expanding and relocating companies
in the nationally recognized N.C. Industrial Center, the Buckhorn Industrial Park in Orange County, and the newly
established North Carolina Commerce Park. Boasting over 3,000 acres between these three development areas,
Mebane is poised for economic growth.

Long-Term Financial Planning and Major Initiatives

The City's 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) outlines the major capital purchases and capital project
expenditures for the next five fiscal years while matching a conservative revenue source for payment. This document
also describes the impact of the capital expenditures on the General Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, and the City
finances as a whole. The City's long-range plans are committed to maintaining a solid financial position while
providing the necessary capital improvements to continue its historically high level of services.

Major initiatives of the CIP include the renovation and expansion of the City's wastewater facility, construction of an
elevated storage tank, Lake Michael Dam repairs, a new police station, and a new fire station. In addition, the City's
dedication to quality of life is reflected in the commitment to update the Master Recreation and Parks Plan and Bike
and Pedestrian Plan by the Fall of 2023.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the City of Mebane for its annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2021. To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and
efficiently organized ACFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Mebane has received the award for
the last nine years. We believe that our current ACFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's
requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. We believe
that participating in the GFOA's Certificate of Achievement program will improve our transparency and disclosure
to the citizens of Mebane.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedicated efforts of the entire staff of the
Finance Department. We want to express our appreciation to all members of the department who assisted and
contributed to the preparation of this report. Credit also must be given to the Mayor and the City Council for their
unfailing support in maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in managing the City of Mebane's finances.

Respectfully submitted,

ClQae Daphwa Shuots

Chris Rollins Daphna Schwartz
City Manager Finance Director
CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St.| Mebane, NC 27302 0 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Mebane’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of City of Mebane as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes
in financial position, and cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison
for the General Fund, for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the City of Mebane and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raises substantial doubt about the City of Mebane’s ability
to continue as a going concern for the twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including
any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Governmental
Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or
in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Governmental Auditing Standards we

e exercised professional judgement and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsible to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e cvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the City of Mebane’s ability to continue as a going concern
for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 through 11, and the Other Post Employment
Benefits’ Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios on page 66, the Law
Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance Schedules of Changes in Total Pension Liability
and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 62 through 63, the Local
Government Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of the Proportionate Share of the Net
Pension Liability (Asset) and Contributions, on pages 59 through 60, respectively, and the Firefighter’
and Rescue Squad Worker’s Pension Fund’s Schedule of the Proportionate Share of Net Pension
Liability on page 61 and the Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in
Total Pension Liability and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 64
and 65, respectively be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consist of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Mebane’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual
fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules, as well as the accompanying schedule
of expenditures of expenditures of federal and state awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us. In our opinion, based on
our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and the combining and individual fund
financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal
and state awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory information and the statistical sections but does not include
the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November
29, 2022 on our consideration of the City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Stour Sueet M%owes € K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 29, 2022
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2022

As management of the City of Mebane, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview
and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. We encourage readers to
read the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the
City’s financial statements, which follow this narrative.

Financial Highlights

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Mebane exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $134,032,439 (net position).

e The government’s total net position increased by $15,784,604, due to increases in the government
type net position of $7,782,168 and increases in the business type activities net position of
$8,002,436.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Mebane’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $20,869,451, an increase of $4,455,321 in comparison to
$1,458,652 in the prior year. Approximately 20.9 percent of this total amount, or $4,356,323, is
nonspendable or restricted.

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $14,347,743
or 66.6 percent of total general fund expenditures for the fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial
statements present two different views of the City through the use of government-wide statements and fund
financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental
information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the City of Mebane.

Required Components of Annual Financial Report (Figure 1)

Management Discussion and L .
. Basic Financial Statements
Analysis
Government-wide Financial . . Notes to the Financial
Fund Financial Statements
Statements Statements
Summary »  Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City’s financial status.
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The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 8) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on the
activities of the individual parts of the City government. These statements provide more detail than the
government-wide statements. There are three parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the governmental
funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements; and 3) the proprietary fund statements.

The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements explain
in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, supplemental information is
provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary information required by the General
Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the
City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-wide
statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as a whole.

The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s financial
condition.

The government-wide statements are divided into two categories: 1) governmental activities and 2)
business-type activities. The governmental activities include most of the City’s basic services such as public
safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes and state and federal grant funds
finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the City charges customers to
provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of Mebane.

The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements (see Figure 1) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Mebane, like all other governmental entities
in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-
related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All of the funds of
the City of Mebane can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services are
accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash
flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.
Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting that
provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader
a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources
available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities (reported in the
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.

The City of Mebane adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes. The
budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the management
of the City, and the decisions of the Board about which services to provide and how to pay for them. It also
authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current period activities. The
budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City complied with the
budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as planned when the
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budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is
presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document. The statement
shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the board; 2) the final budget as amended by the
board; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4)
the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual resources and charges.

Proprietary Funds — The City of Mebane has one kind of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to report
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City of Mebane uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer activity. These funds are the same as
those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements — The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements begin on page 24 of this report.

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
includes certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Mebane’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information can be found
beginning on page 59 of this report.

Interdependence with Other Entities — The City depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated
with, both the Federal Government and the State of North Carolina. Because of this dependency, the City is
subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to Federal and
State laws and Federal and State appropriations.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

City of Mebane’s Net Position (Figure 2)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Current and other assets... $21,553,090 $17,108,874 $16,328,930 $11,173,521 $ 8,495,903 $ 8,422,634 $ 32,726,611 $ 25,604,777 S 24,751,564

Non-current assets..
Capital assets.....
Total assets ...

2,761,091 2,077,097 1,694,588 14,484,677 3,136,703 1,573,791 17,245,768 5,213,800 3,268,379
64,738,517 60,583,002 57,304,415 61,138,183 54,987,245 52,721,275 125,876,700 115,570,247 110,025,690
89,052,698 79,768,973 75,327,933 86,796,381 66,619,851 62,717,700 175,849,079 146,388,824 138,045,633

Deferred outflows of resources......... 8,237,052 6,984,654 4,717,368 1,187,413 971,957 692,831 9,424,465 7,956,611 5,410,199

Long-term liabilities outstandin,
Other liabilities..

22,886,748 22,991,907 19,099,032 19,009,149 8,841,303 9,026,767 41,895,897 31,833,210 28,125,799
2,772,624 2,200,642 2,471,378 3,171,532 1,293,498 1,226,150 5,944,156 3,494,140 3,697,528

Total liabilities 25,659,372 25,192,549 21,570,410 22,180,681 10,134,801 10,252,917 47,840,053 35,327,350 31,823,327
Deferred inflows of resources............ 2,962,826 675,694 790,594 438,226 94,556 111,730 3,401,052 770,250 902,324
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 58,077,074 53,020,166 48,932,506 53,706,014 48,261,754 45,237,242 111,783,088 101,281,920 94,169,748

Restricted.. 4,324,267 3,533,331 2,535,935 3,702,258 2,465,362 970,910 8,026,525 5,998,693 3,506,845
Unrestricte 6,266,211 4,331,887 6,215,856 7,956,615 6,635,335 6,837,732 14,222,826 10,967,222 13,053,588
Total net po! . .. $68,667,552 $60,885,384 $57,684,297 $65,364,887 $57,362,451 $53,045,884 $134,032,439 $118,247,835 $110,730,181

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Mebane exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows
by $134,032,439 as of June 30, 2022. The City’s net position increased by $15,784,604 for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2022. However, the largest portion (83.4%) reflects the City’s net investment in capital assets
(e.g. land, buildings, machinery, and equipment). The City of Mebane uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of
Mebane’s net investment in capital assets is reported net of the outstanding related debt, the resources
needed to repay that debt must be provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the City of Mebane’s net position $8,026,525 (5.99%)
represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining
balance of $14,222,826 is unrestricted.
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Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations positively influenced the total unrestricted

governmental net position:

e Continued diligence

in the collection of

property taxes by maintaining a tax collection

percentage of 99.76%, which

compares

favorably with the statewide average of

99.12%.

e Other taxes increased $1,576,630 which
included an increase in sales taxes of
$1,514,458.

e Water and sewer charges for services

increased by $557,681 due to an increase in

Allocation of Net Assets

Net
investment
in capital
assets
83%

Restricted
6%

Unrestricted

demand for these services. 11%
e A continued low cost of debt due to the City’s
high bond rating.
City of Mebane Changes in Net Position (Figure 3)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Revenues:
Program revenues:

Charges for Services.......ovuncunnes $ 2,165,375 S 2,041,900 $ 1,464,352 $ 9,703,779 $ 9,146,098 $ 7,644,617 S 11,869,154 S 11,187,998 $ 9,108,969

Operating grants and contributions 1,071,973 821,868 957,002 2,045,130 - - 3,117,103 821,868 957,002

Capital grants and contributions..... 4,284,192 4,465,736 3,927,560 3,422,692 2,890,267 5,400,880 7,706,884 7,356,003 9,328,440

General revenues:

Property taxes.. 13,129,528 11,807,602 11,378,933 - - - 13,129,528 11,807,602 11,378,933

Other taxes... 7,341,386 5,764,756 5,067,665 - - - 7,341,386 5,764,756 5,067,665

Grants and contributions not

restricted to specific programs 410,380 191,474 31,047 - - - 410,380 191,474 31,047

630,116 157,929 580,737 63,939 (62,837) 105,857 694,055 95,092 686,594

Total revenues. 29,032,950 25,251,265 23,407,296 15,235,540 11,973,528 13,151,354 44,268,490 37,224,793 36,558,650
Expenses:

General government 2,838,280 2,945,979 2,508,794 - - - 2,838,280 2,945,979 2,508,794

Public safety. 8,660,213 9,046,866 8,045,419 - - - 8,660,213 9,046,866 8,045,419

Public works 4,824,551 5,273,617 4,939,677 - - - 4,824,551 5,273,617 4,939,677

Economic development. 2,260,845 2,225,126 1,677,079 - - - 2,260,845 2,225,126 1,677,079

Culture and recreation 2,064,269 1,931,238 2,005,292 - - - 2,064,269 1,931,238 2,005,292

Interest on long-term dep 178,756 200,005 257,803 - - - 178,756 200,005 257,803

Water and sewer . - - - 7,656,972 7,656,961 7,298,336 7,656,972 7,656,961 7,298,336
Total eXPeNSEs.......vuucierrieeiererisiiisiiaens 20,826,914 21,622,831 19,434,064 7,656,972 7,656,961 7,298,336 28,483,886 29,279,792 26,732,400
Increasein net position before

transfers and special item................ 8,206,036 3,628,434 3,973,232 7,578,568 4,316,567 5,853,018 15,784,604 7,945,001 9,826,250
Transfers (423,868) - (1,395) 423,868 - 1,395 - - -
Special item. - - - - - - - - -
Increasein net position.. 7,782,168 3,628,434 3,971,837 8,002,436 4,316,567 5,854,413 15,784,604 7,945,001 9,826,250
Net position, July 1 60,885,384 57,684,297 53,712,460 57,362,451 53,045,884 47,191,471 118,247,835 110,730,181 100,903,931
Net position, restated.. 60,885,384 57,256,950 53,712,460 57,362,451 53,045,884 47,191,471 118,247,835 110,302,834 100,903,931
Net position, June 3 $68,667,552 $60,885,384 $57,684,297 $65,364,887 $57,362,451 $53,045,884 $134,032,439 $118,247,835 $110,730,181

Note: 2020 Net Position has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

Governmental activities: Governmental activities prior to transfers increased the City’s net position by
$8,206,036 thereby accounting for 50.25% of the total growth in the net position of the City of Mebane. Key
elements of this change in net position are as follows:

e Property taxes increased by $1,321,926 over the prior year.
e Other tax revenues increased by $1,576,630 over the prior year, mostly in sales tax despite the

impact of the coronavirus pandemic.

e Charges for services increased by $123,475 and operating grants increased $250,105 while capital
grants and contributions decreased $181,544 over the prior year.
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Business-type activities: Business-type activities prior to transfers increased the City of Mebane’s net
position by $7,578,568, accounting for 48.01% of the total growth in the government’s net position. Key
elements of this change in net position as compared to the prior year are as follows:

e Charges for services increased $557,681 due to an increase in demand for these services, due to the
growth in Mebane.

e Operating grants and contributions increased
$2,045,130 due to the American Rescue Plan Grant
proceeds of $2,045,130 received in the current year.

Revenues by Source - All Activities

Capital
Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds grants and
. . . contributions

As noted earlier, the City of Mebane uses fund accounting to 17%

ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal

requirements.
Operating

Governmental Funds: The focus of the City of Mebane’s grants and
governmental funds is to provide information on near-term conturions

) 7%

inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such

information is useful in assessing the City of Mebane’s financing

requirements. 2%

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City of

Mebane. At the end of the current fiscal year, fund balance available in the General Fund was $16,513,128,
while total fund balance reached $20,728,012. The City currently has an available fund balance of 76.71% of
general fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 96.29% of the same amount.

At June 30, 2022, the governmental funds of the City of Mebane reported a combined fund balance of
$20,869,451, a 27.14% increase over last
year. This increase in fund balance is
due to an increase in the general fund of
$5,008,192 offset by a decrease in the
non-major funds of $552,871.

Expenses by Function - All Activities

General Fund Budgetary Highlights:
During the fiscal year, the City revised
the budget on several occasions.
developiiat Generally, budget amendments fall into

General 8% one of three categories: 1) amendments
government ) .
10% made to adjust the estimates that are

Culture and used to prepare the original budget

Interest on long- recreation di t inf ti .

rasiidapt == ordinance once exact information is

1% available; 2) amendments made to

recognize new funding amounts from

external sources, such as Federal and State grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary
to maintain services.

. . | in Net Position - G tal Fund:
Revenues were more than the budgeted amounts primarily nerease In et Fosition - Governmental Funds

because tax revenue that the City originally had expected to 7,782,168

receive was significantly more. Expenditures were significantly

less than budgeted as a result of the delay of many

expenditures due to supply change issues. prpp

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the $3,628,434

same type of information found in the government-wide

statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the
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Water and Sewer fund at the end of the fiscal year amounted to $7,956,615. The total increase in net position
was $8,002,436.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets: The City of Mebane’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business—type
activities as of June 30, 2022, totals $125,876,700 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
buildings, roads, land, artwork and collections, machinery and equipment, park facilities, and vehicles.

Major capital asset transactions during the year include the following additions and disposals:

e Capital contributions in the general fund in the amount of $4,284,192 and in the water and sewer
fund in the amount of $3,422,692.

e Construction in progress in the governmental funds consisted of construction related expenses in
the Lake Michael Dam Spillway of $85,253 and the Cates Farm Park of $44,170.

e Construction in progress for Utility funds includes related expenses of $1,295,972 for the WRRF
Upgrade and $1,016,746 for the WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion.

City of Mebane’s Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (Figure 4)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Land $ 7,669,906 $ 7,509,059 $ 6,980,512 S 766,326 S 566,834 $ 520,198 S 8,436,232 S 8075893 $ 7,500,710
Artwork and collections.. 68,360 68,360 68,360 - - 68,360 68,360 68,360

12,533,851 12,515,279 12,834,576 21,830,149 22,100,411 21,650,859 34,364,000 34,615,690 34,485,435
34,620,673 30,748,944 29,099,844 34,620,673 30,748,944 29,099,844

Buildings and systems...
Water and sewer systems.. - -
Improvements other than buildings 9,510,210 9,994,677 10,114,964

- - - 9,510,210 9,994,677 10,114,964
Machinery and equipment. 1,556,136 1,515,008 1,775,174 982,313 984,340 1,049,187 2,538,449 2,499,348 2,824,361
Computer equipment.. 216,302 213,453 216,441 - - - 216,302 213,453 216,441
Infrastructure 30,048,595 26,250,167 22,306,612 - - - 30,048,595 26,250,167 22,306,612
Vehicles and motorized equipment. 2,678,709 2,225,671 2,954,627 23,713 31,431 43,463 2,702,422 2,257,102 2,998,090
Construction in progress................. 456,448 291,328 53,149 2,915,009 555,285 357,724 3,371,457 846,613 410,873

$64,738,517 $60,583,002 $57,304415 $61,138,183 $54,987,245 $52,721,275 $125,876,700 $115570,247 $110,025,690

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found on page 33 of this report.
Long-term Debt: As of June 30, 2022, the City of Mebane had no bonded debt outstanding.
City of Mebane’s Outstanding Debt (Figure 5)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
General obligation bonds. $ - S -8 - S - s - $ - S -3 -8
Revenue bonds.......ccceveueneen - - 13,573,000 - 13,573,000 - -
Direct Placement Debt........ 7,512,035 7,562,836 8,371,909 144,563 3,186,778 3,617,917 7,656,598 10,749,614 11,989,826
Other long-term payables. - - 3,211,310 3,538,713 3,866,116 3,211,310 3,538,713 3,866,116
Compensated absences..... 510,453 445,229 465,151 88,740 78,990 76,077 599,193 524,219 541,228
11,120,836 9,501,292 6,809,240 1,757,921 1,494,607 1,061,570 12,878,757 10,995,899 7,870,810
3,743,424 5,482,550 3,880,079 233,615 542,215 405,087 3,977,039 6,024,765 4,285,166

. $22,886,748 $22,991,907 $19,526,379 $19,009,149 §$ 8841303 $ 9,026,767 $41,895897 $31,833,210 $28,553,146

Note: 2020 Pension related debt has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

The City of Mebane’s total debt increased by $10,062,687 (31.61%) during the past fiscal year, primarily due
to increases in revenue bonds of $13,573,000 and OPEB of $1,882,858, offset by decreases in pension
obligations of $2,047,726, netted with scheduled principal payments of $1,868,015 on notes and other long-
term payables and the direct placement debt refunded payoff of $2,713,000 in the Utility Fund.

The City of Mebane has maintained a high bond rating at “AA+” with Standard and Poor’s Corporation. There
was no new general obligation debt issued in FY22, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services last review
affirmed the rating, with a stable outlook for the City of Mebane. They stated that the rating reflects their
opinion of the City’s favorable location, growing and diverse property base, very strong finances and low
direct debt. The City believes this speaks very highly of the stability and sound management practices of the
City of Mebane.
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North Carolina general statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8 percent of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s
boundaries. The legal debt margin for City of Mebane is $204,865,249.

Additional information regarding the City of Mebane’s long-term debt can be found on page 50 of this report.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The following key economic indicators reflect the growth of the City of Mebane:

¢ The City has and continues to lead the area in industrial recruitment and new homebuilding. The
residential and industrial sector continues to demonstrate growth, with the latter potentially
increasing explicitly beyond the number and size of recent years. Interest in the commercial and
downtown sector could result in these categories of development creating stand-alone projects
versus recent mixed-use approaches.

e The City’s tax base continues to grow with industrial development and expansion in the NC Industrial
Center and NC Commerce Park, along with new development in Orange County.

¢ Retail sales are expected to remain strong, with Tanger Outlets sustaining much of its growth.

e The City’s population continues to grow at a rapid pace, with the 2020 Census showing a 56.21%
increase in the total population from 2010 to 2020.

Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023

Governmental Activities: The tax base is expected to continue to grow; therefore, the City retained an
valorem tax rate of $.47 per $100 valuation and a 4.6% growth in tax collections. Sales tax revenues were
budgeted to increase based on current trends and forecasts, with an overall increase of 29.81%. The
expenditures budget added nine new positions and multiple rolling stock purchases of almost $1 million.
Projects include an inclusive playground at Cates Farm Park, the renovation of the Lake Michael Dam spillway,
and multiple sidewalk projects. The budget included a 3% cost-of-living increase and merit pay for employees.

Business-type Activities: The budget for FY23 included a 6% rate increase for water and sewer services.
Water and sewer charges were budgeted to increase due to the rate increase and growth, with overall
revenues increasing 11.57% overall. In addition, the budget continued the City’s dedication to the
maintenance of the system and to address growth, continuing the plan to expand the capacity of the Water
Resources Recovery Facility.

Request for Information

This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those interested in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or request for additional information should
be directed to:

Daphna Schwartz

Finance Director

106 E. Washington Street Mebane, NC 27302 (919) 563-5901
dschwartz@cityofmebane.com
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Basic Financial Statements

The Basic Financial Statements provide a dual perspective
summary overview of the financial position and operating
results of the government as a whole (government-wide
financial statements) and of all funds (fund financial
statements). They also serve as a condensed introduction to
the more detailed statements and schedules that follow.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2022 Exhibit 1
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Assets
Cash and cash equIValeNts.........cccveeeeeceeeeceeceeeceeeee e S 18,920,436 S 10,061,364 S 28,981,800
Taxes receivables, (net) 77,564 - 77,564
Accrued interest receivable on taxes 15,776 - 15,776
Accounts receivable (Net).....cccceeeieeeiie e 115,682 1,112,157 1,227,839
Leases reCeiVabIB.......cciiii i 28,887 - 28,887
Due from other governments........cccceeeecveeeecciieeecciiiee e, 2,363,029 - 2,363,029
Prepaid itEMS...coi et 31,716 - 31,716
ReSHICtEd CASN.....uviiieiiieeee e 2,259,324 14,484,677 16,744,001
Notes receivable - Mebane Mill Lofts, LLC........cccceeeveeeeeeeeeeeeinnnnee, 501,767 - 501,767
Capital assets (Note 2):
Land, non-depreciable improvements, and
CONSErUCEION IN PrOGIrESS ..uuueviieiieeeeeeeeeeciireevree e e e e e e e e e ssaaaeees 8,194,714 3,681,335 11,876,049
Other capital assets, net of depreciation.........cccceeeeviciieeeeiiinnenn, 56,543,803 57,456,848 114,000,651
Total capital assets 64,738,517 61,138,183 125,876,700
o] 2= | I 131 PO 89,052,698 86,796,381 175,849,079
Deferred outflows of resources.........ccccviereneneiiiiinininnenenennnenns 8,237,052 1,187,413 9,424,465
Liabilities
Amounts due within one year:
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.......cceveercveeeereeeneeennne 1,609,653 1,793,902 3,403,555
Accrued interest payable.......ccccveeviiiiiiencie e 43,300 92,665 135,965
Payable from restricted assets.......cccccvvveeevieencieeiciee e 1,119,671 738,766 1,858,437
UNEAINE rEVENUES.......eveeeeieeeiieeeiieesteesireesieeessreeessneessseessseeanns - 546,199 546,199
Current portion of long-term liabilities..........cccccevveeeeecineneinnenn. 1,935,280 1,393,985 3,329,265
Amounts due in more than one year:
Net pension liability - LGERS 1,574,035 233,615 1,807,650
Net pension liability - LEOSSA 1,503,388 - 1,503,388
Net pension liability - FIr@SSA.........eeeeiiiiieeecieee e 666,001 - 666,001
Due in more than ONe Year......cccccveeeeeiiiee e 17,208,044 17,381,549 34,589,593
Total liabilities.....cccccveereeeieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicrssrnrrseenneneeneeseeeeens 25,659,372 22,180,681 47,840,053
Deferred inflows of resources..........ccveeeeeerereecierienecerieneneerennees 2,962,826 438,226 3,401,052
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets.......cccovvveeieeiieeieiciiiee e, 58,077,074 53,706,014 111,783,088
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State Statute......ccccecuveiecciiiee e, 4,182,828 - 4,182,828
Economic development......cccocveieicciiei e 141,439 - 141,439
Future system development.......ccccccvveeriiiieeicccieee e, - 3,702,258 3,702,258
UNFESTIICTEA .t e e e e e e e eannenaeees 6,266,211 7,956,615 14,222,826

Total net position S 68,667,552

$ 65,364,887

S 134,032,439

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit 2

Program Revenue

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

Operating Capital Grants
Charges for Grants & and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary government
Governmental activities
General government.........cccceeeeeveennnene. S 2,838,280 $ 4,605 S - S - S (2,833,675) S - S (2,833,675)
Public safety......ccccceveeiieeeceeniiesieeieen 8,660,213 22,229 204,572 - (8,433,412) - (8,433,412)
Public WOrkS.....cocovvevieeniiinieeiee e 4,824,551 680,282 530,520 4,284,192 670,443 - 670,443
Recreation......cccccoeveeveeieeiiecciieeeee e 2,064,269 141,125 7,883 - (1,915,261) - (1,915,261)
Economic & physical development........ 2,260,845 1,317,134 328,998 - (614,713) - (614,713)
Interest on long-term debt................... 178,756 - - - (178,756) - (178,756)
Total governmental activities................ 20,826,914 2,165,375 1,071,973 4,284,192 (13,305,374) - (13,305,374)
Business-type activities:

Water and SEWer......ccccuvevveecreesieesneenns 7,656,972 9,703,779 2,045,130 3,422,692 - 7,514,629 7,514,629
Total business-type activities................. 7,656,972 9,703,779 2,045,130 3,422,692 - 7,514,629 7,514,629
Total primary government...................... S 28,483,886 S 11,869,154 S 3,117,103 S 7,706,884 (13,305,374) 7,514,629 (5,790,745)

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes..........cccceeeevveernnennn. 13,129,528 - 13,129,528
SalES TAXES.cei ittt ettt e e e e e e e eanraeeaaeean 5,913,171 - 5,913,171
FranChise taX....oocveiceeeeiciie e rae e e 1,179,423 - 1,179,423
Privilege license tax 805 - 805
(o = I GO PRSPPI 247,987 - 247,987
Grants & contributions not restricted to specific programs.......... 410,380 - 410,380
Unrestricted investment €arnings........ccceeecveeevieeeeinveeescveeesveennn 12,614 14,078 26,692
MISCEIIANEOUS. ...ttt sttt rene s 617,502 49,861 667,363
Total general revenues excluding transfers.........cceveveeerereeersinnenns 21,511,410 63,939 21,575,349
TEANSTEIS. ..t st (423,868) 423,868 -
Total general revenues and transfers..........ocevcvevcsniecnisessnnnncnns 21,087,542 487,807 21,575,349
Change in Net POSILION.......ccvereereererreerisreeseeeesessessessessessessesaessesens 7,782,168 8,002,436 15,784,604
Net POSItion - DEGINNING ....cvevveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 60,885,384 57,362,451 118,247,835

Net position - ending........ccceeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniinnieeenessse.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

S 68,667,552 S 65,364,887

S 134,032,439




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2022 Exhibit 3
Total
Total Non - Governmental
General Fund Major Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents.........cccoeveeveeveirrenennen. S 18,906,921 S 13,515 S 18,920,436

Restricted cash.....ccccoocciiiiiiiiicee e,
Taxes receivable, Net........uueeeeeeeeeeieeiieieieieieeeeeeenens
Receivable from other governments....................
Other receivables..........cccceeeciieeeciii e
Leases receivable........cocciveeeiieiciiiieee e,
Prepaid itemsS......cccuviieeeiceceee s

L] =1 I T =] £ RTRN

Liabilties, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accounts payable.......ccocceeeiiiiiiecee e
Payable from restricted assets..........cccceeecvveeenneen.

Total liabilities...ccccieeuiereeierenniereeiereenieneeneerennenes

Deferred inflows of resources.........ccceeeeeenneernenes

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

Prepaid assetsS.......cccuveeeeeeiiiiiieee e

Restricted

Stabilization by State Statute...........cccccovvveeennn.
Economic development..........ccceevevveercieeesinnnnn.

Assigned

Subsequent year's expenditures...........cceeeueee.
UNASSIZNEd.....uuieieeieeeiieee e e

Total fund balances........ccccevveeiereeieieecereeierennens

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances.......ccc.ccceeurrennennne.

2,117,885 141,439 2,259,324
77,563 - 77,563
2,363,029 - 2,363,029
115,682 - 115,682
28,887 - 28,887
31,716 - 31,716

$ 23,641,683 S 154,954 S 23,796,637
1,596,138 13,515 1,609,653
1,119,671 - 1,119,671
2,715,809 13,515 2,729,324
197,862 - 197,862
340 - 340

31,716 - 31,716
4,182,828 - 4,182,828
- 141,439 141,439
2,165,385 - 2,165,385
14,347,743 - 14,347,743
20,728,012 141,439 20,869,451

$ 23,641,683 S 154,954

$ 23,796,637

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Page 15



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet (continued)

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2022 Exhibit 3

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net

Position (Exhibit 1) are different because:

Total fund balance, governmental funds.........cccoovieiiiiiiiiiiie e S 20,869,451
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources

and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Gross capital assets at historical COSt......couuiiiriiiiiiiie e e 85,405,302

Accumulated depreCiation........iiceee e e (20,666,785) 64,738,517
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not

repPOorted iN the fUNAS....oo i s 4,886,955
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not

repPOrted iN the fUNAS....oo i s s 3,350,097

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are inflows of resources in the funds.

Accrued interest receivable 0N taXes.......ccccciiiiciee i 15,776

NOLES FECEIVADIE. ... e e e tre e et e e e e e e e e nee e e sanes 501,767 517,543
Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources

N FUNA SEATEMENTS...ei e st e s s sate e e saaeeeas 77,563
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not
repOorted iN the fUNAS.. ..ot (2,300,398)
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not
reported in the fFUNAS..........ooiii e e (542,129)

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

NOTES PAYADIE...ciiiieiieee e ettt st aees (7,512,035)

CompPeENSAtEd ADSENCES. ... .eiiiiiiieee e s (510,453)

Net pension liability - LGERS......cccciiriiiiiiiiieies ettt sttt st (1,574,035)

Total pension liability - LEOSSA.........uii ittt et este et e s site e e sbaeessbeeeeans (1,503,388)

Total pension liability - FIF@SSA.....couiiiiiiiieee ettt (666,001)

OPEB [Iability.ceuveeeieeiieiieeeie ettt et et a e st e e e (11,120,836) (22,886,748)
Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable

in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds...........ccceeeuveenneen. (43,299)
Net Position of Governmental ActiVities.......cccceeeirrremeeiiiiiieeeccceirreerceerreeeeeeereennnens S 68,667,552

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Page 16



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit 4
Total

Total Non- Governmental
General Fund Major Funds Funds

Revenues
Property taxes............

Other taxes and [iCeNSES.......cocevrieeriiiiiiiieeniee e
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........cccccceeeeeiininee..n.
Restricted intergovernmental.........cccceeecveeeecveeccieennn,

Permits and fees........

Sales aNd SEIVICES......ccouveeeeeieecireeee e

Investment earnings..
Miscellaneous............

TOtal FEVENUES....ceeeeeeierrrreneeeereeeennreeeteeensseeeeeeennseeeseen

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Public safety.............
Public works.............
Recreation................

Economic and physical development.........................

Debt Service:

PrinCipal.ccccc s

Interest and other charges........cccccoeeevciiveeccee e,

Capital outlay.............

Total Expenditures.........cccceviiiiiinnneenennnnnneneessssnnnnnn

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures.....

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers iMoo

Transfers out

Installment purchase obligations

[ V=T PO PP RRPPRPOTIN
Total other financing sources and uses

Net change in fund balances.........ccccoeeeeiieiiiiieneeeneennn,

Fund balances - beginn

Fund balances - ending

ing

.......................

...............................................

$ 12,631,940 $ - $ 12,631,940
805 - 805
7,683,475 - 7,683,475
1,231,498 - 1,231,498
1,388,813 - 1,388,813
701,267 - 701,267
9,809 2,806 12,615
955,798 11,174 966,972
24,603,405 13,980 24,617,385
2,796,570 - 2,796,570
7,819,284 - 7,819,284
4,515,439 - 4,515,439
2,088,479 - 2,088,479
2,583,545 - 2,583,545
1,415,799 - 1,415,799
178,525 - 178,525

- 129,423 129,423
21,397,641 129,423 21,527,064
3,205,764 (115,443) 3,090,321
566,851 129,423 696,274
(129,423) (566,851) (696,274)
1,365,000 - 1,365,000
1,802,428 (437,428) 1,365,000
5,008,192 (552,871) 4,455,321
15,719,820 694,310 16,414,130

$ 20,728,012 S

141,439 $ 20,869,451

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (continued)

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit 4

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation
in the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized
Capital asset transfers to and from other funds........ccccceevcieeeeciie e,
Depreciation expense for governmental assets.........cccceevvveeeeiieeeeceveeesneenn.
Cost of capital asset disposed of during the year, not recognized

on Modified aCCrual DasiS........ccvvveiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal
year are not included on the Statement of Activities.........ccccceeeeeicciiieeeennnnn,
Benefit payments paid and administrative costs for
LEOSSA are deferred outflows of resources on the
Statement of ACHIVITIES. ... .oiviiiii e
OPEB benefit payments and administrative costs made
in the current fiscal year are not included on the
Statement Of ACHIVITIES....coovvieiiiieee e
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Amount of contributed capital and donations..........cccccevveeeciieiceee e
Mebane Mills Lofts notes receivable principal receipts......cccccceeecvvieeeeencnnns
Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues.........cccocveeeeeeccciieeeeeeecnnees

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
New long-term debt iSSUB........covviiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e
Principal payments on long-term debt........ccocevvviiiniiiniiniieeecece
Increase in accrued interest payable.......coovvviiiiinniiinien e,
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated abSENCES..........uueei i e e
PENSION EXPENSE..cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieeee e e e e e e e e e e s e s s s e s aeaannees
OPEB Plan @XPENSE.....oiiccueieeiiiieeeiieeeeteeeestee e s seeeessaaeestaeesssaeesssseeeansseeennns
Total changes in net position of governmental activities .......cccccceeererinnnnne.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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2,597,002
(423,868)
(2,449,699)

4,432,552
(11,174)
(4,209)

(1,365,000)
1,415,799
(231)

(66,362)
589,459
(1,171,780)

4,455,321

(276,565)

(470)

(326,078)

110,906

4,417,169

50,568

(648,683)

7,782,168



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Annual Budget to Actual
General Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit 5

Variance with

Final Budget -
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes..........c...... $ 12,569,424 S 12,569,424 S 12,631,940 $ 62,516
Other taxes and licenses.............. 1,000 1,000 805 (195)
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........cccoecveeieeeceennnns 5,962,500 5,962,500 7,683,475 1,720,975
Restricted intergovernmental...... 959,570 959,570 1,231,498 271,928
Permits and fees.......ococciiee i 1,335,652 1,335,652 1,388,813 53,161
SalES AN SEIVICES.....ceeeeerrrrereeee et e e e e seeeaarranees 695,550 695,550 701,267 5,717
INVESTMENT EArNINGS....eeeeieeiieeieeeteeeeeeee et eeee e 20,000 20,000 9,809 (10,191)
MiSCEIIANEOUS.....ciitiiieeiiiee ettt et 587,600 587,602 955,798 368,196
TOtal FEVENUES.....cceteeieeeeeenenccicieeeeereeeeennnnneeseeeeeseeeennnnnnnnes 22,131,296 22,131,298 24,603,405 2,472,107
Expenditures
Current:
General BOVEIMMENT......cecveeeee e eeeeree e e seee e sae e 3,639,890 3,651,516 2,796,570 854,946
Public safety..... 8,896,470 9,034,737 7,819,284 1,215,453
Public works..... 5,355,061 6,136,627 4,515,439 1,621,188
Recreation.....cccccveeecciieee e, 2,478,023 2,640,417 2,088,479 551,938
Economic and physical development........cccccccvvevveenveeenenn, 3,455,894 3,823,758 2,583,545 1,240,213
Debt Service:
[ AT e Yo T o - | SR 1,415,802 1,415,802 1,415,799 3
Interest and other charges.. 204,200 204,200 178,525 25,675
Total expenditures.......cccceeeiiiiiiiiinnnnnnneeeiniiieeeinsesnnsssnseenes 25,445,340 26,907,057 21,397,641 5,509,416
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures............... (3,314,044) (4,775,759) 3,205,764 7,981,523
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
TrANSTRIS INuuviiiiiiiiiec ettt et eeabee e e eaaeeeeen - - 566,851 566,851
Transfers OUL.......cocciiieeeiie e e - (908,240) (129,423) 778,817
Long-term debt obligations issued...........ccceeeviiiiiiiiiiienennn, 1,364,044 1,364,044 1,365,000 956
Fund balance appropriated........cccccceeeeeecieecineceee s 1,950,000 4,319,955 - (4,319,955)
Total other financing sources and uses 3,314,044 4,775,759 1,802,428 (2,973,331)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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5,008,192 $ 5,008,192

15,719,820
$ 20,728,012



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2022 Exhibit 6
Water and
Sewer Fund
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS..........uuiiiii et e e e e e e e ettt r e e e e e e s ebbeaeeeeeesn e nnraeaeaeean S 10,061,364
Accounts receivable (Net) - DIE.......cocueie e e e n 765,038
Accounts receivable (nNet) - UNDIlled............ooouiiiee e et e e 341,998
Other receivables 5,121
[T o T (=] [ o= 1] o TR 14,484,677
B o) = eV £=] 0 - Y=L £ TSP 25,658,198
Non-current assets:
NEE PENSION @SSEE..eiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieii ettt e e e e s e s s s e s e s st a et e beeeeee s anaaaanberareee -
Capital assets:
Land and other NON-depreciable aSSEtS.......ccuiiiiiiieeeeiiie e e e e e e eer e srae e e srre e e eeaens 3,681,335
Other capital assets, net of dePreCiation.........ccccveiciiieieciii e ere e e e e e eeeeans 57,456,848
o) 1ot [ 1) = | I [T 4TSS 61,138,183
TOTAl NON-CUITENT @SSEES...uuuuuerrrrriiieretireretereeerereeereeeeesererrrrererteteteteteteteteeteteteteeeesesesesssssssssssssssssssssssesnss 61,138,183
B e ] = I T =1 P RRN 86,796,381
Deferred outflows Of re@SOUICES......cccceeeiiiiiiieccrrrececcr e ee s rrenaee e e s e eenassssessennnsssssesennnsssseseennnnns 1,187,413
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities........uiivuiee i e 1,793,902
F X ool QU =Yoo E=Y C T A o F- 1V =] o [T USSR 92,665
Payable from restricted assets 738,766
Unearned revenues...........uvevevvvveeeenens 546,199
Compensated absences......... 73,570
Long-term debt - current 356,415
Bonds payable - current............... 964,000
Total current liabilities 4,565,517
Noncurrent liabilities:
CoMPENSALEA ADSENCES. ... ..eiiiiiee ettt e e et e e e e e st e e e e e e sesaaeaeeeeeesenbbareaaeseeeeennnens 15,170
Net pension liability 233,615
TOtal OPEB 11ability......uveieeeieeiiiiee et e ettt e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e s abaaeeeeeeeaeeenasaeeeaeeeannes 1,757,921
LONgG-term debt - NONCUITENT.......eiie e e e e e et e e s e e e st e e s ataeesnaee e e eraeeennnns 7,670,516
Bonds payable - noncurrent 7,937,942
Total noncurrent liabilities.................... 17,615,164
LI L= LI LT 11 1 4 = 22,180,681
Deferred INTIOWS Of FESOUICES........ciiieiiiieiireeiirteeieteeeerreneieteesesrensseresssrssssessssssssnssesensssssnnsssansssner 438,226
Net Position
Net investment in CaPital @SSEES....cciuii et et e e e e e et e e e s saeaeeesnreeean 53,706,014
Restricted for future system developmMEeNt... ..o iiiiiiie i e e 3,702,258
(0L T =T 4 g ot (=T T 7,956,615
TOtAl NEE POSITION....eeeiieiiieeeieciieeeieerseeeeeesreeeeeessneeeeesssseeesesssssesesessnneeessssaneesesssssseesessnsaeesesssnsanens S 65,364,887

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit 7
Water and

Operating Revenues

(0 T = LT o Y =T oV ol T3PS
W ater @N0 SEWET TAPS..uueiiiieieiiiiiee e e e ettt e e e eecct bt e e e e e eeettbteeeeeeseastaeeeeesesnsteseeaesanassreeeaaasan
(070] Y Y=o a o] o I8 =TT SRS
Y T EYol= 1= T o= T S

Total Operating reVeNUES.........cuueeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnrrrrssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnnnseenes

Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and billiNg.........cccuviiiirii e
O 1] Y0 0 1T =T 0 = L DS
[ o Fq T Y=Y 1oV -SSP
Water resource recoVery facility......coccvuiee e
(oY o Rro I=Y oF- [ a1l o] -1 S PTR
(DT o] g =TolF- | o] o PP PP

Total OPErating EXPENSES.....ccvveeiiiiirrnnriieissnrtiiesssnsessssssssesssssssssesssssssssssssssnsassssssnsasssssns

Operating iNCoME (10SS)...cciiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeriiriiieieseieesiieeeeesseeeeseesssssnnsssssssssssssssssssssssnes

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

INterest and iINVESTMENT FEVENUE.........ccoiccirreieeeeeitirreee e eestreeeeeeeetareeeeeeeseabaaeeeeesesanreeeeas

[N =] R =) ] o 1= o 1= TSP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPIRE
ARPA Grant PrOCEEAS. ......cccuvieeiiieeeeiieeeete e esttee e e ettt e e ste e e s taeeestaeeesasaeessnseeeensteeesnsseeennnees

Total nonoperating revenues (EXPENSES)......cccceeereerreeereeesraneeseesssnesssesssneessssssssessssssanens

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers..........cccoeeeeeiiiieciiec e,

(07T o 1 | I oTo T 014 4 o T £ Fo o -SSR
LT (=] £ [ TSR
BE I (=] £ 0 1V SRS

Change iN NEt POSITION.....cciii i e e e e e e e e re e e e e e e e aaeaeeaeaean
Total net Position - DEGINNING.........uuiiiiiee e e e e e

Total net Position - @NAING........ceeeeeeriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirerererreeeesssssssesssssssssssssssssssnnnns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Sewer Fund

S 7,616,776
26,279
1,650,570
415,476

9,709,101

959,494
2,798,410
306,902
1,621,109
64,185

1,710,866
7,460,966

2,248,135

14,078
44,539

(196,006)
2,045,130

1,907,741

4,155,876

3,422,692
4,465,676

(4,041,808)

8,002,436
57,362,451

$ 65,364,887



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit 8

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash received from CUSTOMEIS.....ciii ittt e s sbee e
Cash paid for G00ds aNd SEIVICES.......uuviiiiieeeciiee et e e e e e st e e e rre e e enaeeas
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for ServiCes........cocccuiiiieiieiciiiiieee e
Customer depPOoSits FECEIVEM. ....cccuuiiiiciiee e cee et eee e e e e e et e e e ssta e e e eaaneeesnaaeeas
Customer deposits FETUINEd........ccuiiiiiee et e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaraeeeaaean
Other OPErating FEVENUES......cc.uiii ittt ettt ettt ste e siee e e s bbe e e sabe e e sbaeeesnsbeeesans

Total cash provided (used) by operating activities...........ccccecccnnnennnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnes

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Transfers from Other fUNAS.........uvveiii e et e e e e eaaes

Transfers to Other fUNAS.. ..o e
Grant proceeds-federal ARPA Srant.........ccooeiciiiiiieiiie ettt e e e erre e e e e e aaaae e
Total cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities.........ccccceccccrnnennennnnnnnnnns

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital @SSets........cccvvviiriieeiriiie e
Proceeds from NeW debt.......ooiiii i e

Principal paid on bonds and notes payable.........ccccceeciiiiieciii e
Interest paid on bonds and notes payable.........cueeeeeiiiiiccie e

Total cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities........ccccccceeuueeenenns

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

INVESEMENT INCOMI@...ciiee e e e s e s eeee e e e
Total cash provided (used) by investing activities.........cccccvviriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiniinieeeeeeeeeeeeennn

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents..........ccceeeeeciiee e e
BalanCe, DEGINNING.......eeii et e e e e tae e e st e e e e s rae e eeneaeeenreee e s
Balance, eNdiNG.......uuuueeeeennnennmnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnemnnmnnmmssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water and
Sewer Fund

$ 9,166,101
(1,619,889)
(2,567,327)

170,850
(103,425)
415,476

5,461,786

4,041,808
(4,041,808)
2,591,329
2,591,329

(4,233,031)
13,696,000
(3,492,619)
(139,475)
5,830,875

14,078
14,078

13,898,068
10,647,973
S 24,546,041



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit 8

Water and
Sewer Fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

(0] o1 =T uTaY =T o oloT o TN {To 113 IR ST S 2,248,135
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
(DT=T o ¢ Tol -1 1 [0 o DO PP P PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPP 1,710,866
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accoUNts reCeIVabIe.........c.uviiiiie i (154,155)
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts.............cccoieieiiiiiiiiii e, 26,631
(Increase) decrease in PrePaid iLEMS.....c..uii e e eree e e e et e e e rre e e are e e eneeseeesanns -
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources for pensions.........cccccocveeeecieeeccieee e, (215,456)
Increase (decrease) accounts PAYabIE.......cccuieeciiri e e e 1,478,903
Increase (decrease) salaries Payable...... ... iciiiiiciiee e ettt (8,698)
Increase (decrease) accrued vacation 9,751
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability (308,600)
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for pensions.........ccceccvveecieeeccieeeecvee e, 361,003
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability........cccoueiiiiiiiieiiei et 263,314
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for OPEB...........ccceeecieeeviieeeccie e (17,333)
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 67,425
o) &= 1 I 1o J 10T 5 1= o £ PSP PURN 3,213,651
Net cash provided by operating activities........cccuueeeeueeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeessesessssssnnssnnn S 5,461,786
Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
Noncash capital contributions of capital @SSetS........ccuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e e S 3,422,692
Unrealized gain/l0Ss 0N INVESTMENTS......ccuiiiviiiiieeiree ettt ereesre et e eeveeeaeestreeeteeebeesaneentes e esneenes S -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2022

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Mebane conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Mebane is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a five-member
council. The City is located in the eastern part of Alamance County and the western part of Orange
County. Generally accepted accounting principles require that these financial statements present the
primary government (i.e. the City) and any component units, legally separate organization for which the
elected officials of the City are financially accountable. The City of Mebane has no component units as
defined above.

B. Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government. These statements include the financial activities of the
overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been
made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds.
Separate statements for each fund category — governmental and proprietary — are presented. The
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in
a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as
nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies, result from
non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such as investments
earnings.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund accounts for
all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, federal and State grants, and various other taxes and licenses.
The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, and general
government.

The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:

CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft — Special Revenue Fund: This fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns Building into subsidized housing.
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Capital Project Fund: This fund is used to account for various General Fund capital expenditures that are
expected to be completed within one year.

Capital Project Fund — Cates Farm Park: This fund is used to account for the construction of a new city
park.

Capital Project Fund — Lake Michael Dam Spillway: This fund is used to account for the construction of
upgrades to the Lake Michael Dam Spillway.

The City reports the following major enterprise fund:

Water and Sewer Fund: This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations. The
Water and Sewer Capital Project Funds and the System Development Capital Reserve Fund have been
consolidated into the Water and Sewer Fund for financial reporting purposes. The budgetary comparison
for the Water and Sewer Capital Projects Fund has been included in the supplemental information.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the year
using the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements: The government-wide and proprietary
fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the
City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include
property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in
the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The City also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to
the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements: Governmental funds are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have
matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing
sources.

The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except for
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not
susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are materially
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past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of the current
year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection
of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law,
the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor
vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts, including the City of Mebane. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which
they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for
limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are offset by
deferred inflows of resources.

Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as utilities franchise tax, collected and held by
the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a
shared revenue for the City of Mebane because the tax is levied by Alamance County and Orange County
and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and sales and
services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash.
All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general revenues rather than
program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a
combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus,
when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to
finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general revenues.

D. Budgetary Data

The City’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget is
adopted for the General Fund and the Enterprise Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal year-
end. Project ordinances are adopted for the Special Revenue Funds and the Capital Projects Funds and
the Enterprise Capital Projects Funds. The enterprise fund projects are consolidated with the operating
funds for reporting purposes. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted
funds and at the project level for the multi-year funds. Amendments are required for any revisions that
alter total expenditures of any fund or that change functional appropriations. All amendments must be
approved by the governing board. During the year, several amendments to the original budget were
necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity

Deposits and Investments

All deposits of the City are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required by
State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association
whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City may establish time deposit accounts
such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.

State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United States or obligations
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States; obligations of the State of North
Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority; obligations of
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers’
acceptances and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City’s investments are
reported at fair value. The North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT), which consists of an SEC-
registered mutual fund (the Government Portfolio), is authorized by G.S. 159-30(c)(8). The Government
Portfolio, which invests in treasuries and government agencies, is a money market mutual fund (2a-7)
and maintains an AAAm rating from S&P and AAAmf by Moody’s Investor Service. It is reported at fair
value. Because the NCCMT Government has a weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, it is
presented as an investment with a maturity of less than 6 months.
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In accordance with State law, the City has invested in securities which are callable and which provide for
periodic interest rate increases in specific increments until maturity. These investments are reported at
fair value as determined by quoted market prices.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize
investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand deposits and are
considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Assets

Customer deposits held by the City before any services are supplied are restricted for which the deposit
was collected. Contractor reserves and bond deposits received and held are classified as restricted cash.
Grant proceeds received in advance for specified purposes are classified as restricted cash. Unexpended
loan principal and interest receipts in the CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund is classified as
restricted assets because its use is restricted for future economic development per an agreement with
the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash, if
applicable, because they can be expended only for the purposes of maintaining, repairing, constructing,
reconstructing or widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4. Unexpended utility
system development fees are restricted for use in accordance with G.S 162A-211.

City of Mebane Restricted Cash
Governmental Activities
General Fund

Contractor reserves and bond deposits.....occiccceecieececeieceee et S 270,438
Asset forfeiture funds........ 147,620
Unspent loan proceeds 850,594
Corrections UNUSEA fUNAS........cuiveieieeeeeeecteceetee et ere s e b e enens 445
Stormwater reserves 848,788

CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Capital Project Fund
ECONOMIC DEVEIOPMENT......ereeereeceeeeeseese e erese st seess s ss s ssee s s sesese s 141,439

Total governmental activities 2,259,324
Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Fund
CUSTOMEr AEPOSIES ..ueuieeereieiririeere et 738,766
Unexpended system development fees 3,702,258
Unexpended ARPA Capital Project Fund uexpended proceeds........ccceevrvrveenene 546,949
Unspent bond proceeds __ 9,496,704
Total busSiNESS-tYPE ACTIVITIES ..ccuciiriieeiceeeecc e _ 14,484,677
TOtal RESTIICEEA CASN ..ttt st s s ssaesaene s $ 16,744,001

Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem taxes on
property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on
September 1 (lien date), however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2021. As allowed by State law, the City has established
a schedule of discounts that apply to taxes that are paid prior to the due date. In the City’s General
Fund, ad valorem tax revenues are reported net of such discounts.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were
written off in prior years.
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Lease Receivable

The City’s lease receivable is measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be received
during the lease term. Under the lease agreement, the City may receive variable lease payments that are
dependent upon the lessee’s revenue. There are no variable components under the lease agreement.

A deferred inflow of resources is recorded for the lease. The deferred inflow of resources is recorded at
the initiation of the lease in an amount equal to the initial recording of the lease receivable. The deferred
inflow of resources is amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City’s enterprise fund consist of expendable materials and supplies that are
expensed when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are
used.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a

certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Minimum capitalization costs are $5,000
for all items. Donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair
value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at
acquisition value. All other purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment in the proprietary fund of the City are recorded at original cost at the
time of acquisition. The City capitalizes those interest costs which are incurred during the construction
period of any major capital projects. Property, plant, and equipment donated to the proprietary fund
type operations are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lives

L0l = A U Lo L0 TSP RUPRRROt
2 TU 1T [T =4 PPURRR
aa] o] 00)Y7=T 0 a L= o) &3 PPN
Vehicles.....ooocveviiinieeneennns

Furniture and equipment
COMPULET EQUIPIMENT ..eeiiiiiiieiitte ettt e s e st e s e b e e e s eanr e e e sneeesenreeesanneens

Right to use assets
The City has no right to use lease assets required to be reported as a result of implementing GASB 87.

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of
Resources, represent a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has three items that meet this criterion,
pension deferrals and OPEB deferrals for the 2022 fiscal year. In addition to liabilities, the statement of
financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This
separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of Resources, represent an acquisition of net
assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The City has
several items that meet the criterion for this category — prepaid taxes, property taxes receivable, leases,
and pension and OPEB deferrals.
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Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the
bonds using the straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premiums or discount.

In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Compensated Absences

The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to 240 hours of earned vacation leave
with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the City’s government-wide and proprietary funds,
an expense and a liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as
the leave is earned. The City has assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated
time. The portion of that time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as
a current liability in the government-wide financial statements.

The City’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does
not vest. Since the City does not have any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually
taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made.

Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position

Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints
on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or imposed by law through state statute.

Fund Balances

In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of classifications designed to
disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.

The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Prepaid Assets — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it represents the
year-end balance of prepaid assets, which are not spendable resources.

Leases — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it represents the year-end
balance of the lease receivable in excess of the deferred inflow of resources for the lease receivable,
which is not a spendable resource.

Restricted Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.

Restricted for Stabilization by State Statute — portion of fund balance that is restricted by State
Statue [G.S. 159-8(a)]. North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units of government from budgeting or
spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one of several statutes enacted by the North
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Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that were designed to improve and maintain the fiscal health
of local government units. Restricted by State statute (RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal
year for all annually budgeted funds. The calculation in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for
determining what portion of fund balance is available for appropriation. The amount of fund balance
not available for appropriation is what is known as “restricted by State statute”. Appropriated fund
balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of cash and investments minus the sum of liabilities,
encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close
of the fiscal year next preceding the budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon
which a restriction is “imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS
is reduced by inventories and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding
Encumbrances are included within RSS. RSS is included as a component of Restricted Net position
and Restricted fund balance on the face of the balance sheet.

Restricted for Economic Development — portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source
for future community development related activities. This amount represents the balance of the
total unexpended funds from the amortized repayments of the CDBG monies loaned to Mebane
Mills Lofts, LLC.

Assigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that the City intends to use for specific purposes.

Subsequent year’s expenditures — portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves the
appropriation; however, the budget ordinance authorizes the budget officer to modify the
appropriations by resource or appropriation within funds without limitation. Any transfer between
funds must be approved by the governing board in the budget ordinance as amended.

Unassigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
to specific purposes or other funds. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General
Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report positive unassigned fund balance but can report negative
unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned to those purposes.

The City of Mebane has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple
revenue sources. The Finance Officer will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds,
federal funds, State funds, local non-city funds, city funds. For purposes of fund balance classification,
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Officer has the authority
to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the City.

The City of Mebane has adopted a fund balance policy that instructs management to conduct the
business of the City in such a manner that unrestricted fund balance is 50% of annual budgeted
expenditures and transfers. Any portion in excess of 50% may be set aside for future capital
improvements or to other purposes as directed by the City Council.

Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from
LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS.
For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due. The City of Mebane’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the City of Mebane has
a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.
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For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions to/deductions from
FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

F. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Detail Notes on All Funds
A. Assets

Deposits

All the deposits of the City are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the
Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. Under the Pooling Method,
which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State
Treasurer’s agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary
capacity for the City, these deposits are considered to be held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. The
amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest bearing
deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories using the Pooling
Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured
deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City or the escrow agent.
Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the City under the
Pooling Method, the potential exists for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of
high cash flows. However, the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial
stability for each depository that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has
no formal policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce
standards of minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official depositories
and verifying that deposits are properly secured.

At June 30, 2022 the City’s deposits had a carrying amount of $43,605,377, and a bank balance of
$34,343,107. Of the bank balance, $1,026,740 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. Petty cash on hand at June 30,
2022 was $400.

Investments
At June 30, 2022, the City’s investment balances were as follows:

Valuation
Measurement ~ Book Value at
Investments by Type Method 6/30/2022 Maturity Rating
NC Capital Management Trust
- Government Portfolio...........c.c........ Fair Value level 1 § 2,120,024 N/A AAAM
Total S 2,120,024
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All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of assets.

Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a matrix
pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ benchmark quoted
prices.

Interest Rate Risk. The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk. As a means of
limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s internal investment
policy limits at least half of the City’s investment portfolio to maturities of less than 12 months. Also, the
City’s internal management policy requires purchases of securities to be laddered with staggered
maturity dates and limits all securities to a final maturity of no more than two years.

Credit Risk. The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management procedures
that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the purchase of securities
to the highest possible ratings whenever particular types of securities are rated. State law limits
investments in commercial paper to the top rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations (NRSROs). As of June 30, 2022, the City did not hold any investments in commercial paper.
The City’s investment in the NC Capital Management Trust Government Portfolio carried a credit rating
of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s and AAAm-mf by Moody’s Investors Service as of June 30, 2022.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The City’s Council places no limit on the amount that the City may invest in
any one issuer. For the year ended June 30, 2022, there were no investments in commercial paper that
totaled more than 5 percent of the City’s investments.

Receivables — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The amount of taxes receivable presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position
includes penalties levied and outstanding in the amount of $13,294.

The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position for the year ended June
30, 2022 are net of the following allowances for doubtful accounts:

Funds
General Fund:
TAXES RECEIVADI €.ttt e sa ettt e e be st ene e S 11,695
ACCOUNES RECEIVADI Ottt ettt e et e saesraeeseesbeenseesans -
11,695
201,551
S 213,246

Leases Receivable

In July 2020, the City entered into a lease with Alamance County. Under the lease, the Alamance County
pays the City $450 per month for three years in exchange for maintaining a room and parking bay at the
City fire department. The lease receivable is measured as the present value of the future minimum rent
payments expected to be received during the lease term at a discount rate of 2.6%, which is the City’s
incremental borrowing rate.

In fiscal year 2022, the City recognized $3,998 of lease revenue and $189 of interest revenue under the
lease.

In prior years, the City entered into separate five year renewable leases with three mobile phone
companies. Under the leases, the mobile phone companies pay the City rents in the amounts of $2,409,
$1,331, and $1,452 per month in exchange for antenna space on the City’s water tower. The leases
receivable are measured as the present value of the future minimum rent payments expected to be
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received during the lease terms at a discount rate of 2.6%, which is the City’s incremental borrowing

rate.

In fiscal year 2022, the City recognized $4,802, $15,749, and $4,337 of lease revenue and $454, $559,

and $308 of interest revenue under the leases.

Capital Assets
Primary Government

Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Governmental activities: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
LNt S 7,509,059 S 160,847 S - $ 7,669,906
Artwork and collections.......c.cccceeeereviennereennnn. 68,360 - - 68,360
Construction in Progress......eereeereneenennns 291,328 165,120 - 456,448
Total capital assets not being depreciated... 7,868,747 325,967 - 8,194,714
Capital assets being depreciated:
BUITAINGS oottt st 16,910,432 377,613 - 17,288,045
Other improvements... 11,567,334 446,278 592,669 11,420,943
EQUIPMENT ..ottt st 3,364,825 292,575 4,686 3,652,714
Computer equipment.......ccoceeveevveveeneennne 618,764 65,711 19,250 665,225
Vehicles and motorized equipment................. 8,744,706 1,059,247 42,341 9,761,612
INfrastrUCTUrE.. it 29,829,007 4,462,162 (130,881) 34,422,050
Total capital assets being depreciated.......... 71,035,068 6,703,586 528,065 77,210,589
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BUITAINGS ottt st 4,395,153 359,041 - 4,754,194
Other improvements.........cccoevvereieneerenenennenes 1,572,657 368,858 30,782 1,910,733
Equipment.......cccceeveveuenene 1,849,817 260,152 13,391 2,096,578
Computer equipment 405,311 43,612 - 448,923
Vehicles and motorized equipment 6,519,035 606,209 42,341 7,082,903
INfrastrUCTUrE. . et 3,578,840 811,829 17,214 4,373,455
Total accumulated depreciation............c........ 18,320,813 $2,449,701 § 103,728 20,666,786
Total capital assets being depreciated, net... 52,714,255 56,543,803
Governmental activity capital assets, net........... $ 60,583,002 $64,738,517
Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:
General government S 103,856
Public safety.......cccceeecvvenneee. 686,299
U] o [Tl Y o T o <N 1,164,611
4o =T 14 o o 1SN 480,305
Economic & physical development..........cooueiiiiiiiiiniieee e 14,630
o] =1 F TR PUTN $2,449,701
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Business-type Activities

The capital assets of the Enterprise Fund for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Water and Sewer Fund: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
LaNG. et enan S 566,834 S 199,492 S - $ 766,326
Construction in Progress....eeeeiesreeseeseenne 555,285 2,359,724 - 2,915,009
Total capital assets not being depreciated....... 1,122,119 2,559,216 - 3,681,335
Capital assets being depreciated:
W ater SOUIMCES....covvieeieeeeeeeeee e e e e eee s 13,937,610 - - 13,937,610
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 8,847,539 18,950 - 8,866,489
Water and sewer liNes......cocveeeeeeeeveeeceeeeennns 41,885,773 4,863,741 - 46,749,514
Land improvements........ccccceveveeeeceeeceereceeeseennenes 10,971 66,123 - 77,094
Water Resource Recovery Facility.......cccoeeerenas 9,491,911 304,665 - 9,796,576
Machinery and equipment........cccccceveeeveveeenveenne. 1,916,181 103,913 17,406 2,002,688
VENICIES ..ottt 485,245 - 41,415 443,830
Total capital assets being depreciated.............. 76,575,230 5,357,392 58,821 81,873,801
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Water SOUMCES.....coocuieeieecieectee ettt et 4,282,031 285,942 - 4,567,973
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 2,044,407 163,812 - 2,208,219
Water and sewer liNes......cocveeeeeeeevevececeeenens 11,136,829 992,012 - 12,128,841
Land improvements........ccocevevevevrevesereereneeieneeseenes 9,841 1,018 - 10,859
Water Resource Recovery Facility.......cccoeevrennae 3,851,341 209,228 - 4,060,569
Machinery and equipment........ccccceeeevecererueenna. 931,841 105,940 17,406 1,020,375
VENTICIES ..ottt 453,814 7,718 41,415 420,117
Total accumulated depreciation.........cccccceeueuneene 22,710,104 S$1,765,670 § 58,821 24,416,953
Total capital assets being depreciated, net....... 53,865,126 57,456,848
Business-type activity capital assets, net................ $54,987,245 $61,138,183

During the year ended June 30, 2022, several capital assets were reclassified between categories. These
reclassifications were presented in the “decreases” columns of the schedules above.
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Construction Commitments

The government has active construction projects as of June 30, 2022. At year end, the government’s
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Project Spent to Date Remaining Contract
Jones Road Sewer Survey & Preliminary Design..... S 165 S 49,335
GKN Force Main Survey and Preliminary Design 2,659 46,842
Construction Contract for N. First Sidewalk Improwv............... 123,884 7,916
Lead & Copper Engineering Services......cccoevevrreereneereneneneenes - 10,000
AWCK Design and Bidding at Cates Farm Park......cccccecevenneee. 44,170 5,330
AWCK - Lake Michael Connector Engineering and Des........... 19,180 16,820
WRRF Upgrade Construction Services......ccoceoveverrererisvereeenns 141,324 395,066
WRRF Design/Engineering SErvicCes......cocoemeuevveerrerevesverenseennns 956,646 2,353,354
McKinley St Water Line Engineering 18,529 8,347
City of Mebane WRRF Upgrade..........ccoeeveereerecieeeeeeeeereeeeens 542,040 6,384,960
LRUP and Flow Reduction Study.......cccceeeeeeveeeereceeeieeeeresieenes 21,902 13,098
WRRF Construction Administration.......ceceeeeeeeveeveeveeceeceeennenne, - 5,000
GKN Re-Route Final DeSigN.....ccccucevrereererenreneerne s - 49,500
Fence and Gate Access CoNtrol.......ccveevenecenencnieneeneeneeeneenes - 89,419
Atlas Fence Jobs - MACC and B-Ball Court........cccceevveuievveennnnns - 13,649
GATE ACCESS auerireeicieeccte ettt ettt e e e e sbeesas e e basessasessbeesanes - 2,351
McKinley Street Water Line Replacement.........cccceeeeeevvennnene. - 143,550
Public Works/Utilities/WRRF Driveway Improvements........ 92,884 5,466
New equipment shed at Public Works - 122,612
TOtal e S 1,963,383 S 9,722,615

Right to Use Leased Assets

The City has no right to use leased assets for the year ended June 30, 2022.
B. Liabilities

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System

Plan Description. The City of Mebane is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general employees and
local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities. Article 3 of G.S.
Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of
13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by
the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-
officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included in the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes
financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be obtained
by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-
1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A
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member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at
age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age
with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at
age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service (age 55 for
firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of
creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue squad
members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have reached age
60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases.
Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.

LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed
20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have
reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55, or
have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty. Eligible beneficiaries
may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’'s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s
contributions.

Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Mebane employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the LGERS
Board of Trustees. The City of Mebane’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June
30, 2022, was 12.1% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 11.35% for general employees
and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions,
is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year. Contributions to the
pension plan from the City of Mebane were $2,065,813 for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Refunds of Contributions — City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after service
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s
right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2022, the City reported a liability of $1,807,650 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2021 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the pension plan, relative
to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating LGERS employers,
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2021, the City’s proportion was 0.118%, which was an increase of
0.006% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2020.
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For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized pension expense of $1,424,922. At June 30, 2022,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows of

of Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience............. S 575,078 §$ -
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS...c.ccieereieeeieieirieieiereee et 1,135,666 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan inVesStMENtS.......ccevvecrerecene e - 2,582,588
Changes in proportion and differences between City

contributions and proportionate share of contributions.. 1,128,407 123
City contribution subsequent to the measurement date......... 2,065,813 -
TOTA e e S 4,904,964 S 2,582,711

$2,065,813 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

202 e et e e ta e et e et e e aae e aeeeaeaeraaeas S 684,703
2024 .. e e e eta e e ae e e e e e aa e e e aeeeneenraeeas 330,395
202D e et e era e e e aa e e ra e e aa e aeeenree e 31,630
P10 7 LSO (790,288)
20027 e e et e e eaa e e ae e e e e e enae e raeeeaaeeenreeeas -
THEMEATLEN . e sans -

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25 to 8.25 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Investment rate of return 6.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2019.

Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury vyield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
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interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2021 are summarized in the following table:

Target
Asset Class Allocation
Fixed Income 26.7%
Public Equity 36.8%
Cash and receivables.......cccccccciiiii 10.9%
(014 1 1=] U 25.6%
LI = | 100.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2020 asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.50%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 6.50 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (5.50 percent) or one percentage point higher (7.50 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(5.50%) (6.50%) (7.50%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (aSSEt).......cccveveveeeeeeiieireeree e $ 7,017,145 S 1,807,650 $(2,479,463)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30
years of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of

Page 38



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2022

creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the
base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The
retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be
authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December
31, 2020, the valuation date, the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2020
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25to 7.75 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 2.25 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2020.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2022, the City reported a total pension liability of $1,503,388. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2021 based on a December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City
recognized pension expense of $211,550.
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Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience.........ccoceeevvruenene S 155,723 S -
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....ccciiriiiieeiee e 355,015 58,289
Benefit payments and administrative expenses made
subsequent to the measurement date........cccceeeeeeveeceeeeeeceeseienens - -
o] - 1 S 510,738 S 58,289

S0 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

202 et e et ettt e e ee e te e ebe e e baaebaeearaeeeaaeaenteaanns S 92,656
2024t et et et e s te e e be e e ebaaebaeeeraeenareaenteaanns 94,041
202D e e e et e e e e aa e e e ae e e aaeetreeeraeenraeeanteennns 80,324
2026t e et ae e e e e e ae e e rae e abeeeabeeeaee e beeeeraeensaeeanteennne 81,483
2027 ettt ettt e ae bttt a et aeae e et e rene s tenanen 69,060
B LT 1 =) G 34,885

S0 paid as benefits came due and SO of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.25 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(1.25 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.25 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(1.25%) (2.25%) (3.25%)
Total pension liability.....cocoeveeeienececececececeeene. S 1,655,609 S 1,503,388 S 1,365,445

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

2022

Beginning DalanCe ... $ 1,372,013
Service costat end Of YEar....cccvieeevericrercre e 92,414
Interest of total pension liability.....ccccovevevinivnecennircceee 26,480
Changes of benefit terms -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.....cccccovevevenicecennnnen, 59,602
Changes of assumptions or other inputs.......cccceeveieeeeieceneeceeienens (47,121)
BENefit PAYMENTS....ccocueieiteeece et -
Other CRANEES .cvciiceeecc et e -
Ending balance of the total pension liability......c.cooeoevernnnnenicnce. $ 1,503,388

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
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portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five year period ending December 31, 2019.

Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified firefighters under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years of creditable
service or have attained 60 years of age and have completed twenty-five or more years of creditable
service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the base rate of
compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The retirement
benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by
the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time firefighters of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December 31, 2019 the
Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:

Retirees receiving BENETILS ..c...uii i e e e e -
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits .........ccoceveeeieicieecceeees -
ACEIVE PlIaN MEMDEIS ..ottt bttt sttt et be e s aeesbe e sbee s earee 27
o) - | PSPPSR 27

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2019
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25 to 8.00 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 2.25 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2020.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2022, the City reported a total pension liability of $666,001. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2021 based on a December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City
recognized pension expense of $76,219.

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience.........cccoeuevevenenes S 1,333 S -
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....cccueiriiieeiee e 111,499 20,401

Benefit payments and administrative expenses made

subsequent to the measurement date - -

TOTA ettt bbbk a bbbt $ 112,832 S 20,401

SO was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

S0 paid as benefits came due and SO of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.25 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(1.25 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.25 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(1.25%) (2.25%) (3.25%)
Total pension liability.....cooevevevenevenecreceeeee S 746,361 S 666,001 S 594,064
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Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance
2022

BeginNiNg DalanCe.....coceeeeeeeeereeiereeeeeete ettt s S 637,293
Service costat end Of YEaT.....ccccvveciceieisceceese e 39,560
Interest of total pension liability 12,300
Changes of benefit termMS........ccceveceieceecceeee et -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability......cooeineieeiniccennens 1,618
Changes of assumptions or other iNPULS......cccceeeeveevcererenenreene (24,770)
Benefit PAYMENTS ..ottt -
Other CNANEES ..ottt ns -
Ending balance of the total pension liability.....cccoceeeveiecnecnennee. S 666,001

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five year period ending December 31, 2019.

Page 43



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2022

Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS LEOSSA Fire SSA Total

Pension Expense
Pension Liability
Proportionate share of the

net pension liability...coeveveceeieineeenniriseens 0.11787% n/a n/a

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

$ 1,424922 $ 211,550 ¢ 76,219 ¢ 1,712,691
1,807,650 1,503,388 666,001 3,977,039

actual experiencCe.. ... ecnveesenereeeenineen 575,078 155,723 1,333 732,134
Changes of assumptions........ccccevveecerereceenene 1,135,666 355,015 111,499 1,602,180

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... - - - -
Changes in proportion and differences

between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions........cccoeeveeeeeeevennenen. 1,128,407 - - 1,128,407

Benefit payments and administrative costs

paid subsequent to the measurement date.. 2,065,813 - - 2,065,813

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and
actual eXPeriencCe.. . vreeeeeeeeeeieeeeeens - - - -

Changes of assUMPLiONS......ccoeeerererereceniririeene - 58,289 20,401 78,690

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... 2,582,588 - - 2,582,588

Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions.......ccoceeveeeveveereeereeene. 123 - - 123

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Non-Law Enforcement Officers

Pension Descriptions. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by The Prudential Insurance Company of America. The Plan
provides retirement benefits to non-law enforcement officers employed by the City. The City Council has
the authority for establishing or amending the plan’s provisions.

Funding Policy. The City contributes an amount equal to five percent of each employee's salary, and all
amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also, the employees may make voluntary contributions to
the plan. The City Council has the authority for establishing or amending contribution requirements.
Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2022 were $480,838, which consisted of $311,357 from the
City and $169,481, respectively, from the employees.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of G.S.
Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included
in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR
includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan
that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may
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be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North
Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 981-5454.

Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The
law enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan. Contributions for the year
ended June 30, 2022 were $147,119, which consisted of $103,572 from the City and $43,547,
respectively, from the law enforcement officers.

Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund

Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Mebane, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North Carolina.
FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire workers that have elected to become members of the
fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one
appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who
serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighter’s Pension Fund is included in the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR) for the state of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the Fund. That report may be obtained by writing to the
Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling
(919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.

Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a non-
employer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City is not required to contribute to
the Fund; however, as a benefit to the firefighters, the City has chosen to fund the member’s
contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58- 86 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, the State
contributed $18,302,000 to the plan. The City of Mebane’s proportionate share of the State’s
contribution is $27,727.

Refunds of Contributions — Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2022, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The total
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$40,756. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020. The
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total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2021 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to make any future
contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at June 30, 2022 and at June 30, 2021 was 0%.

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized pension expense of $2,992 and revenue of $2,992
for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2022, the City reported no deferred outflows of resources
and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases Not applicable

Investment rate of return 6.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan noted above.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.50%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Other Post-employment Benefits

Healthcare Benefits

Plan Description. Employees who retire under the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System (NCLGERS) and have fifteen (15) or more years of service with the City at
the time of retirement are eligible to continue coverage in the City’s health plan, a single-employer
defined benefit plan. Coverage in the health plan will continue until the retiree becomes Medicare
eligible, at which time coverage will be converted to a Medicare Supplement Plan. Health care and
prescription drug coverage are provided by the City’s health plan. A separate stand-alone report is not
issued.

Membership of the Health Care Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2020, the date of the latest
actuarial valuation:

General Law Enforcement
Employees Officers
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits .............ccccvereenieenns 25 5
Active plan MembEers ........cooiee i 100 __ 38
[ o)1= 1 O PTRTOPRP 125 43
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Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability of $12,878,757 was measured as of June 30, 2021 with a determination
date of June 30, 2020, the actuarial valuation date.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods
included in the measurement unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Real wage growth 0.75 percent

Wage inflation 3.25 percent

Salary increases General Employees- 3.25 to 8.41 percent, Firefighters 3.25 to

8.15 percent, Law Enforcement Officers 3.25 to 7.90 percent,
including inflation

Discount rate 2.16 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-Medicare- 7.00 percent for 2021 to 4.50 percent by 2031
Medicare- 5.125 percent for 2021 to 4.50 percent by 2024

The discount rate is based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year Municipal
Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJuly 1, 2021.......ccccoeeeeeeceeeieceereeenne S 10,995,899
Changes for the year
Y= Y ol < o 13 N 699,762
gL T T S 256,952
Changes in benefit terMS ... ..ot -
Differences between expected and actual experience 297,009
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 767,656
Benefit payments.......cccovvevevnereneneneccccnene, (138,521)
NEL CRANEES .ttt 1,882,858
Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJune 30, 2022......cccccvevevverecerereennnnns S 12,878,757

Changes in assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.21% to 2.16%.

Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 mortality tables, with adjustments for LGERS experience and
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2019.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period January 2015 through December 2019.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current discount

rate:
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(1.16%) (2.16%) (3.16%)
Total OPEB liability...cccceoeeevereceereieeee S 15,902,834 S 12,878,757 S 10,586,982

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:
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1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
Total OPEB liability...ccccooerecererireireenee S 10,271,357 S 12,878,757 S 16,437,534

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $1,371,222. At June 30, 2022,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience.......cccceeeerennnns S 1,151,717 S 4,567
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS ...c.ccvvveeeireree et 2,617,143 614,785

Benefit payments and administrative costs made

subsequent to the measurement date........ccccveevrereeeneenerenecesereenens 127,071 -

TOTA ettt ettt sb e be bbb aeereereereereereenean S 3,895,931 S 619,352

$127,071 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

S 414,508
414,508
414,508
414,508
450,692

TREIATEEN ... ettt ettt a st enenaeaennens 1,040,784

Other Employment Benefits

The City has elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for members
of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-employer,
State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis. The beneficiaries of those
employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or who die
within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of contributing
membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits. Lump sum death
benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a row during
the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be less than
$25,000. Because all death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan and not by the City,
the City does not determine the number of eligible participants. The City has no liability beyond the
payment of monthly contributions. The contributions to the Death Benefit Plan cannot be separated
between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit amount. Contributions are
determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established annually by the State.
Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law enforcement officers.
The City considers these contributions to be immaterial.
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Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources is comprised of the

following:
Pensions- differences between expected and actual experience....... S 575,078
Pensions- change of assUMPLioNS.......cccceeeeevieceeeceeceeece et 1,135,666
Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment

CATNINES ettt ettt a ettt -

Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,128,407
Contributions to pension planin current fiscal year......ccoceevvueennene 2,065,813
LEOSSA- differences between expected and actual experience........... 155,723
LEOSSA- change of asSUMPLiONS......ccceeveveneceeeeese e 355,015
FFSSA- differences between expected and actual experience............. 1,333
FFSSA- change of assUMPLiONS......ccoueccevieenieee et 111,499
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 1,151,717
OPEB- change of asSUMPLIONS.......coviveverirrennererererene e 2,617,143
Benefit payments for OPEB made subsequent to measurement
(6 = =T T 127,071
LEOSSA- benefit payments made and administrative
EXPEINS S w.vuvvrerererereresetesesesetesesesesesesssssssesesssssesssssesasesesesasesesesesesesesesesesesese -
0] - 1 TR S 9,424,465
Deferred inflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following:
Statement of General Fund
Net Position Balance Sheet

Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment
BATNINES couvviiereeet e s s sessses s se s s s s s sssas s s s s s s s s anananan S 2,582,588 S -

Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... S 123 S -
LEOSSA- change of assuUMPLiONS......ccceeveireceserceceeeseee et 58,289 -
FFSSA- change of asSUMPLiONS......c.ccvieeeirrnenirrernseeee e 20,401 -
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 4,567 -
OPEB- change of assumptions 614,785 -
Leases receivable (General Fund) 29,227 29,227
Prepaid taxes and licenses (General Fund) 91,072 91,072
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund) - 77,563
TOTA L ettt et e et et be e ne et e bans S 3,401,052 S 197,862

Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions, injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries commercial coverage
for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage in the prior
year, and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last four fiscal years.

The City has not been designated as being in a flood zone and thus carries no commercial flood
insurance.
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In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given time
of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer and
tax collector are individually bonded for $50,000 each and the City Manager for $25,000. The remaining
employees that have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $25,000.

Claims, Judgments and Contingent Liabilities

At June 30, 2022, the City was a defendant to various lawsuits. In the opinion of the City’s management
and the City attorney, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the City’s financial position.

Long-Term Obligations

Capital Leases

The City has no lease agreements that qualify as other than short-term leases required to be reported
under GASB 87.

General Obligation Indebtedness

The general obligation bonds and the notes payable, which were issued to finance the construction of
facilities utilized in the operations of the water and sewer system and which are being retired by its
resources, are reported as long-term debt in the Water and Sewer Fund. All general obligation bonds are
collateralized by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the City. Principal and interest requirements
are appropriated on all indebtedness when due.

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 2022 are comprised of the following individual issues:

Revenue Bonds:
Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

$2,749,000 2021 Series A Refunding Utilities Revenue Bonds due in annual

installments of $329,000 to $359,000 through June 30, 2030; interest at 1.27%................ S 2,749,000
$10,824,000 2021 Series B Utilities Revenue Bonds due in annual installments

of $635,000 to $815,000 through August 1, 2036; interest at 1.78% ........cceevevvevevevenennn. 10,824,000
TOtAl REVENUE BONGS ... e e e s s babababababsbabasesesnssssssrssenn $ 13,573,000

The City is in compliance with the covenants as to rates, fees, rentals and charges in Section 4 of the
Master Trust Agreement, authorizing the issuance of the City's Combined Utilities Revenue Bonds, Series
2021A and 2021B. Section 4.03 of the Master Trust Agreement requires the sum of the income available
for debt service and 15% of the system fund balance to be no less than 120% of the long-term debt
service requirement for parity indebtedness and the income available for debt service will be not less
than the sum of the long-term debt service requirement for parity indebtedness and subordinate
indebtedness and the debt service on all installment debt and system general obligation debt.

The debt service calculation is as follows:

Operating revenues S 9,709,101
Operating expenses less depreciation (5,750,100)
Operating income 3,959,001
Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2,453,940
Income available for debt service 6,412,941
15% of Unrestricted Net Position 1,553,396
Total Balance for 120% Parity S 7,966,337
Debt service principal and interest (Revenue Bond only) 1,183,839
Debt service coverage ratio on first-lien debt 673%
Debt service all debt 1,213,574
Debt service coverage ratio on all debt together 656%
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Installment Purchases:

Serviced by the General Fund:

Direct placement contract payable to Bank of America, N.A. for the City Hall
and Recreation Building renovation projects. Principal payments of $106,667
plus interest are due semi-annually starting on December 27, 2008. The note
bears interest at the rate of 3.52%. The City Hall and Recreation buildings are
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ...........ccceeeeiiiiiiiee e, 213,333

Direct placement contract payable to BB&T for the Southside Fire Station
Project. Principal payments of $86,667 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on July 23, 2014. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.84%. All
property, equipment and deposits acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is ouUtstanding ..........ccceevviiviiiciicieece e 1,213,333

Direct placement contract payable to Piedmont Electric Membership
Corporation as part of the USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL)
Program for the purchase of two fire trucks and related fire truck equipment
and firefighting equipment for the Southside Fire Station. Principal payments
of $140,889 are due annually starting on February 1, 2015 with final payment
due February 1, 2023. The note bears no interest as part of the REDL program.
The fire trucks and equipment are security for the debt while the debt is
(o101 ) 7= 0o 11 V- SRR USSR 140,889

Direct placement contract payable to Piedmont Electric Membership
Corporation as part of the USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL)
Program for the purchase of a fire truck. Principal payments of $46,833 are
due annually starting on August 1, 2017 with final payment due August 1, 2026.
The note bears no interest as part of the REDL program. The fire truck is
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ..........ccccccvieviiiciieieecee e 234,165

Direct placement contract payable to American National Bank and Trust
Company for the City Park Project. Principal payments of $194,333 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on October 15, 2017. The note bears
interest at the rate of 3.23%. All property, improvements and equipment
acquired with these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is
Lo UL ) 7 0o 11 o V- PSS 3,886,667

Direct placement contract payable to Branch Banking and Trust Company for
the Fire Department Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $43,187 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on April 27, 2018. The note bears
interest at the rate of 1.85%. All equipment and improvements acquired with
these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is outstanding..................... 43,187

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $46,900 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on May 9, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.02%.
All equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ...........cccoeeeveieiiiee i, 140,700

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Vehicles. Principal payments of $26,647 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on October 16, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.58%. All
equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the security
for the debt while the debt is outstanding .........cocueeeieiiiiiniii e, 106,587
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Direct placement contract payable to U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and
Finance, Inc., for sanitation vehicles. Principal payments of $43,050 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on February 28, 2022. The note bears
interest at the rate of 1.363%. All equipment and improvements acquired with
these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is outstanding..................... 301,350

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank, for equipment and rolling
stock. Principal payments of $133,176 to $138,871 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on January 20, 2022. The note bears interest at the rate of
1.070%. All equipment and rolling stock acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ...........ccceeeeiiiiiiiee e, 1,231,824

Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

Direct placement contract payable from the North Carolina Water Pollution
Control Revolving Fund for 9th Street Sewer improvements. Principal
payments of $4,806 annually on the indebtedness started on May 1, 2010. The
interest rate as established under this program is zero percent. This debt is not
Y =Tol VI ¢ =Tc SR PURPUPRRRRRRRNt 33,640

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank, for equipment and rolling
stock. Principal payments of $12,077 to $12,528 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on January 20, 2022. The note bears interest at the rate of
1.070%. All equipment and rolling stock acquired with these local funds are the

security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ..........ccccooeveiiiiiiiniiniie e 110,923
Total iNStallMENT PUICNASES.....ccc et e e e e e e e e e e anes 7,656,598
Total oNG-termM debt.... ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ean 21,229,598
Less: Current portion of long-term debt.........ccooi i (2,501,083)
Non-current portion of long-term debt........cccuviiiiiee i e $ 18,728,515

At June 30, 2022, the City of Mebane had no authorized but unissued bonds and had a legal debt margin
of $204,865,249.
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The following table summarizes the annual requirements to amortize all long-term liabilities outstanding
at June 30, 2022 (excluding compensated absences, pension liabilities, OPEB liabilities, and any claims or

judgments).

Other Long-term

Revenue Bonds Indebtedness Total Debt Due
Serviced by General Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
- - 1,508,070 156,112 1,508,070 156,112
- - 1,066,643 127,406 1,066,643 127,406
- - 969,362 106,576 969,362 106,576
- - 929,257 87,652 929,257 87,652
- - 748,703 69,873 748,703 69,873
- - 2,290,000 145,223 2,290,000 145,223
- S - S 7,512,035 $ 692,842 S 7,512,035 S 692,842
Serviced by Water & Sewer Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
2023 964,000 219,839 29,012 723 993,012 220,562
2024 980,000 204,225 29,272 463 1,009,272 204,688
2025 995,000 188,356 29,534 372 1,024,534 188,728
2026, 1,010,000 172,238 29,800 336 1,039,800 172,574
2027 o 1,028,000 155,849 17,333 - 1,045,333 155,849
2028-2032...cccvvevveennne 4,662,000 532,917 9,612 - 4,671,612 532,917
2033-2037.cccveieennee 3,934,000 177,555 - - 3,934,000 177,555
2038-maturity............. - - - - - -
0] -] I $13,573,000 $1,650979 S 144,563 S 1,894 §13,717,563 $1,652,873
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Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

Governmental activities:
Direct Placement

Installment purchase......ccceoevvreeecenenene
Compensated absences......ccoovveecererereenene
Total OPEB liability...cccooeceviinrenireniriniiennee
Net pension liability (LGERS).....ccccevrrereunee.

Net pension liability (LEOSSA)......ccccecvreuenee.
Total pension liability (Firefighters SSA)...

Governmental activity
long-term liabilities.....ccovvreverenriererenenes

Business-type activities:
Direct Placement
Installment purchase

Revenue bonds.......ceernnecnenenniceeneeenenes
Graham/Mebane Watershed
ABrEEMENT....coviiiirrere sttt
Graham/Mebane Capacity
ABrEEMENT....civtiiirterterererte e
Net pension liability (LGERS).
Compensated absences..........
Total OPEB liability...cccoeceriinrenirenirinieenne.
Business-type activity

long-term liabilities....cccovvrevenerriererenenes

Current
Balance July 1, Balance June  Portion of
2021 Increases Decreases 30,2022 Balance
$ 7,562,836 $ 1,365,000 $1,415,801 S 7,512,035 $1,508,070
445,229 415,255 350,031 510,453 427,210
9,501,292 1,619,544 - 11,120,836 -
3,473,244 - 1,899,209 1,574,035 -
1,372,013 131,375 - 1,503,388 -
637,293 28,708 - 666,001 -
$22,991,907 S 3,559,882 53,665,041 522,886,748 $1,935,280
S 3,186,778 S 123,000 $3,165,215 $ 144,563 $ 29,012
- 13,573,000 - 13,573,000 964,000
1,656,249 - 127,403 1,528,846 127,403
1,882,464 - 200,000 1,682,464 200,000
542,215 - 308,600 233,615 -
78,990 89,634 79,884 88,740 73,570
1,494,607 263,314 - 1,757,921 -
S 8,841,303 S$14,048,948 53,881,102 $19,009,149 $1,393,985

Compensated absences have typically been liquidated in the General Fund.

C. Interfund Balances and Activity

There are no balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2022.

Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system,
and (3) payments between funds are made. Interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in
the process of consolidation. These balances routinely clear out each month prior to or at year-end.
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A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 is as follows:

Cash Transfers:
Transfer from General Fund to:

Cates Farm Park Capital Project FUNd........cccoiieriiiececeeeeeecee et S 44,170
Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project FUNd........cccooeiueieiecineciceeeeeeee e 85,253

Transfer from General Fund Capital Project Fund to:

LTI T=1 = 1 VT2 e PR ORRT 566,851

Transfer from Utility Fund to:

WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project FUNd.........ccccocueiieeeiiecineceecieeceeeeee e 1,016,746

Transfer from Utility Capital Project Fund to:

UBHTTEY FUNG ettt bbb 197,755

Transfer from WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund to:

UBHTTEY FUNG ettt bbb nne 583,000

Transfer from American Rescue Plan Grant Project Fund to:

ULHTTEY FUNG ottt bbb 2,045,130

Transfer from System Development Capital Reserve Fund to:

Utility Capital Project Fund....

199,177
TOtal CaASN TRANSTEIS vttt ettt ettt ettt e s s s ene erne S 4,738,082

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to
the fund that statute or budget requires to spend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the
general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations.

Further, during the year ended June 30, 2022, the City made the following one-time transfers:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

D.

A transfer of $44,170 from the General Fund to the Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund for capital
improvements.

A transfer of $85,253 from the General Fund to the Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project Fund
for capital improvements.

A transfer of $566,851 from the General Fund Capital Project Fund to the General Fund for capital
project fund closeout.

A transfer of $1,016,746 from the Utility Fund to the WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project Fund
for capital improvements.

A transfer of $197,755 from the Utility Capital Project Fund to the Utility Fund for capital project
fund closeout.

A transfer of $583,000 from WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund to the Utility Fund for repayment
of expenses subsequently covered by loan proceeds in the project.

A transfer of $2,045,130 for the American Rescue Plan Grant Project Fund to the Utility fund to cover
payroll expenses.

A transfer of $199,177 from the System Development Capital Reserve Fund to the Utility Fund for
capital improvements.

On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

The City has recognized as a revenue and an expenditure on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and
salaries of $2,992, for the salary supplement and stipend benefits paid to eligible firemen by the local
board of trustees of the Firemen’s Relief Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Under State
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law the local board of trustees for the Fund receives an amount each year which the board may use at its
own discretion for eligible firemen or their departments.

E. Net Investment in Capital Assets
Governmental Business-type

CaPital @SSEIS it et S 64,738,517 S 61,138,183
less: 1oNg-1ermM debt.......ccocuiieeieeeeeee et 7,512,035 16,928,873
add: unexpended debt proceeds........ccoveereerininineneceneee s 850,592 9,496,704

Net investment in capital @SSetS.....umeeiieieeeeeieeereceeeee s S 58,077,074 S 53,706,014

F. Fund Balance
The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of General
fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance —General FUNG. ...t ee s s b s sbe st srenns S 20,728,012

Less: Nonspendable Prepaid ASSELS...... ettt sae e (31,716)
Nonspendable Leases Receivable.... (340)
Stabilization by State StatULE......cccevceeiccee s (4,182,828)
Appropriated Fund Balancein 2023 budget.......cccceevereceveeicceneenceere e (2,165,385)
WOTrKIiNG CApital..ccccceeeeiereieieieieieieieirie sttt sttt sttt ss s e (14,347,743)

REMaiNiNG fFUNA DALANCE.....civieeteeeeeececcte ettt ettt bbb s s aesenen s S -

The outstanding encumbrances are amounts needed to pay any commitments related to purchase orders
and contracts that remain unperformed at year-end. Outstanding encumbrances for the Governmental
Funds at June 30, 2022 were $1,704,457 for the General Fund.

G. Jointly Governed Organization

The City, in conjunction with twelve counties and sixty other municipalities established the Piedmont
Triad Regional Council (Council). The participating governments established the Council to coordinate
various funding received from federal and State agencies. Each participating government appoints one
member and one alternate if they so desire, to the Council’s governing board. The City paid $3,009 in
general membership fees and $6,635 in stormwater fees to the Council during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2022.

H. Joint Ventures

The City, in conjunction with the Cities of Burlington and Graham, participate in the Alamance Municipal
ABC Board. Each participating government appoints board members. The ABC Board is a joint venture
established to facilitate control over alcoholic beverages within the Cities. The ABC Board has been in
existence for over 38 years and is self-sustaining. The City has an ongoing financial responsibility for the
ABC Board because it and the Cities of Burlington and Graham are legally obligated under the
intergovernmental agreement that created the ABC Board to honor any deficiencies in the event that
proceeds from other default remedies are insufficient. The participating governments do not have any
equity interest in the joint venture, so no equity interest has been reflected in the financial statements at
June 30, 2022. Complete financial statements for the ABC Board can be obtained from the
administrative offices at 603 W. Harden Street, Graham, North Carolina, 27253.

I. Joint Operation

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham are co-owners and operators of a water supply reservoir and
water treatment plant per an Intergovernmental Watershed Agreement. Since June 22, 1973, the
ownership of the assets and improvements of the joint undertaking remained at 66.7% interest for the
City of Graham and 33.3% interest for the City of Mebane. Due to relative growths of the populations in
units of government, the parties agreed as February 3, 2014 to adjust the capacity, treatment and
operational costs, improvements, upgrades, and repairs to be borne equally by the units. At this time,
the City of Mebane also agreed to pay to the City of Graham an equalizing sum of $2,548,070 for their

Page 56



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2022

capital interest. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $127,403 with the first
payment due July 31, 2014. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the payable as of
June 30, 2022 was $1,528,846.

J. Interlocal Cooperation Agreement

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham entered into an interlocal cooperation agreement for the
allocation of Twenty One and Forty Three One Hundredths percent (21.43%) of capacity usage of the City
of Graham’s wastewater treatment plant. The cost of agreed upon improvements or upgrades to the
wastewater treatment plant and the Cherry Lane pump station will be shared by the City of Mebane and
the City of Graham based on percentage of capacity usage, as noted above. The duration for the
continuation of the agreement is 99 years. The City of Mebane has agreed to pay the City of Graham
$2,682,464 for this capacity usage. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $200,000
(payments 1-5), $150,000 (payments 6-10), $100,000 (payments 11-15), and $86,493 (payments 16-20)
with the first payment due July 10, 2018. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the
payable as of June 30, 2022 was $1,682,464.

K. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies

Federal and State Assisted Programs

The City has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant
agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies.
Management believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the
accompanying financial statements for the grant monies.

L. Significant Effects of Subsequent Events

In accordance with ASC 855, the City evaluated subsequent events through November 29, 2022, the date
the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no material subsequent events that
required recognition or additional disclosure in these financial statements.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last Nine Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2022

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) (%)......c.ccceverene 0.11787%  0.11237%  0.11189%  0.10735%  0.10919%  0.10681%  0.10043%  0.09862%  0.99260%
Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) ($)....coeeeverenene $1,807,650 $4,015,459 $3,055,629 $2,546,709 $1,668,121 $2,266,866 S 450,724 $ (581,608) $1,116,186
Mebane's covered payroll.......cccceveevreennne $8,101,894 $7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 $5,064,935 $4,888,462
Mebane's proportionate share of the

net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll.............. 22.31% 53.49% 42.81% 38.94% 27.51% 37.84% 8.72% (11.48%) 22.83%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability **................... 95.51% 88.61% 90.86% 91.63% 94.18% 91.47% 98.09% 102.64% 94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30. This
schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it
becomes available.

** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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City of Mebane's Contributions

Last Nine Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2022

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2022

Contractually required contribution...... S 970,164
Contributions in relation to the

contractually required contribution... 970,164

2021

S 671,809

671,809

2020 2019

2018

2017

2016

S 624,341 S 526,288 S 364,077 S 438,800 $ 404,627

624,341 526,288

364,077

438,800

404,627

2015

S 376,969

376,969

2014

S 353,916

353,916

Contribution deficiency (excess)..

S -

$ - S

S -

S -

Mebane's covered payroll...........c.c.o..... $8,177,170

Contributions as a percentage of
covered payroll........cccoeeveneenennienne 11.86%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.

$8,101,894

8.29%

$7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336

8.32%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Last Eight Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2022

Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (%).......c.ccccovueuenee 0.00000%  0.00000% 0.00000%  0.00000% 0.00000%  0.00000% 0.00000%  0.00000%
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability ($).......ccceceveriruenene S - S - S - S - S - S - S - S -
State's proportionate share of the net pension

liability associated with the City of Mebane.. 40,756 52,183 53,623 75,430 61,719 45,002 38,775 31,152
TOtAL ettt e S 40,756 $ 52,183 § 53,623 S 75430 S 61,719 $§ 45002 $ 38,775 $ 31,152
Mebane's covered payroll........c.cocccveerncennnnee $1,648,356 $1,650,409 $1,534,858 $1,371,047 $1,289,371 $1,227,668 $1,268,042 S 945,728
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll................... 2.47% 3.16% 3.49% 5.50% 4.79% 3.67% 3.06% 3.29%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability.........ccccoevierreennns 105.58% 92.30% 90.50% 89.35% 94.94% 91.40% 93.42% 92.76%

* The amounts are presented for the prior fiscal year. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.

Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
Last Six Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2022
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Beginning balancCe........ocvecvicieciicieeeceeeeeee e $1,372,013 $§ 802,190 S 621,186 $574,870 §$ 427,541 $ 400,968
SEIVICE COSTuriuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeiteesteesee et e eae e s saeesaeeenteesareesens 92,414 56,536 49,682 45,895 37,803 35,736
Interest on the total pension liability.......ccccooeviieiiinnnii, 26,480 26,151 22,611 18,057 16,370 14,155
Changes of benefit terms........cccoveeeeiieiiiiiiieceeeeee, - - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability...................... 59,602 46,055 77,061 23,723 53,293 -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs...........cccceeeeuneeen. (47,121) 441,081 31,650 (34,476) 46,746 (14,371)
Benefit Payments.......ccceeiiiviieeeiii e - - - (6,883) (6,883) (8,947)
Other Changes......cceuviiieeiieee e - - - - - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability.............c......... $1,503,388 $1,372,013 S 802,190 $621,186 §$574,870 $427,541

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

Last Ten Fiscal Years

June 30, 2022
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total pension

liability......ccevinee $1,503,388 $1,372,013 $ 802,190 S 621,186 $ 574,870 S 427,541 S 400,968 S 258,154 S 238,533 $226,153
Covered payroll....... 2,088,345 1,971,990 1,889,896 1,622,281 1,553,944 1,443,743 1,443,743 1,228,378 1,097,171 931,673
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered payroll...  71.99% 69.58% 42.45% 38.29% 36.99% 29.61% 27.77% 21.02% 21.74% 24.27%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.
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Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance
Last Two Fiscal Years**

June 30, 2022
2022 2021

BeginniNg DalanCe.......cc.ocveeviiceieeccecee et S 637,293 S 427,347
SEIVICE COSL...niiiiiiiitiiee et eeeeeereee e e e e e e et e eeeer et e e eeseeessssaaeeeaaeens 39,560 27,629
Interest on the total pension liability........ccccoeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiees 12,300 13,932
Changes of benefit terms.........cccuviiii i, - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.........cccoceeeiiiiiiinnnen.n. 1,618 -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs.........cccccecveeeeciiieececiiee e, (24,770) 168,385
Benefit PayMENTS... ..o - -
Other CRANEES...cci ittt aneees - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability..........c.cccoeveviivienreennen. S 666,001 S 637,293

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.
**This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance

Last Two Fiscal Years**

June 30, 2022
2022 2021

Total pension

1] o111 Y2 S 666,001 S 637,293
Covered payroll.......ccceveeeciiiieeeccecieee e 1,647,382 1,368,060
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered payroll......cccceeiieicciiiiiee e, 40.43% 46.58%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB
Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

**This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last Five Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2022

Total OPEB Liability 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
SEIVICE COSTurinuiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiteeteesteestteesteeeae e sreesaeeebeesaneenes S 699,762 S 459,321 $ 380,966 S 402,678 S 452,991
INTEIEST oottt s ae e 256,952 289,711 238,114 213,111 183,870
Changes of benefit terms.........cccooveeiiiiiciiiiee e, - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience....... 297,009 5,490 1,302,981 8,326 (9,652)
Changes of assumptions.........cccceeeeeeeieeiieececiiee e 767,656 2,476,778 (115,846) (384,358) (663,734)
Benefit payments........ccceieiieeeiiieeceee e, (138,521) (106,211) (112,112) (97,786) (74,215)
Net change in total OPEB liability..........c.cccoeiiiiineeiiiieeenns 1,882,858 3,125,089 1,694,103 141,971 (110,740)
Total OPEB liability - beginning.......cc.cceevevveeeeceeniieeneeenne 10,995,899 7,870,810 6,176,707 6,034,736 6,145,476
Total OPEB liability - ending........cccecvveveerieenieeceie e $12,878,757 $10,995,899 §$7,870,810 56,176,707 $ 6,034,736
Covered PAYroll.....ccoccueeceeeiie e 7,289,922 6,848,284 6,848,284 6,100,000 6,100,000
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll...... 176.67% 160.56% 114.93% 101.26% 98.93%

Notes to Schedule

Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount

rate of each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

Fiscal Year Rate
2022 2.16%
2021 2.21%
2020 3.50%
2019 3.89%
2018 3.56%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Balance Sheets
General Fund

June 30, 2022 and 2021 Statement A-1
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021
Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........ccuecreeirieiectecee ettt ettt e eae e saeeereeneas S 18,906,921 S 13,745,250
YT o o1 1Yo [N o= 1] o TR 2,117,885 1,436,696
B Y =101 7] o [T 77,563 82,899
ACCOUNTS FECEIVADIE. ...ttt rererrereeeeeeeeaeaeeeeeeaeeeeas 115,682 166,065
[T R T g =LoL=11 V2| o] [T 28,887 -
T oY Lo I (=T o TS UU U UUUURRRN 31,716 31,715
Fi¥o V7 T Tol oI o J e o [T o 10 g Vo KH R - -
Due from other BOVEINMENTS.......cicciiieeciie e e e e e e eaes 2,363,029 2,435,035
TOLAl @SSEES.cuuiiiiiiiiiiiieiirirneeteeteteeeeeeessrsssaneesteeeeeeeeesssssssssnssneeeeeeesssssssssssnsnsnneseseens S 23,641,683 S 17,897,660
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE .veeviieeieeee ettt ettt et ettt e ete e beeareeteeebeenneens S 1,596,138 $ 1,052,795
Due t0 Other GOVEINMENTS.....cciciiiieee et et e et e e e e e e aaaeeeaaeean - 15,819
Payable from restricted assetsS.......cuccuiiiiiiiiciiiiee e e 1,119,671 1,023,687
Total liabilities.....ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieneeeeeeeceenrs e sss e e s e e s s s e e e e e e e ssssnnnssssssssssssnans 2,715,809 2,092,301
Deferred inflows Of r@SOUICES.........ciiiieeeciiiiiereer e rrceee e e e e eenese e s e rennnssasenes 197,862 85,539
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
T LT PPN 340 -
YT [ To I 1Y <1 A USSR 31,716 31,715
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State StatUte......ccueeiciieeeee e e 4,182,828 3,405,872
Assigned:
Subsequent year's eXPeNnditUreS........cccueeecieieeiieee e ecreeeeere e sreeeeare e e sereeesaseeeas 2,165,385 1,950,000
UNGSSIZNEU.ce.itiiiiiiiie et e ectiee e et e e stee e e ste e e s eeaeeesate e e e sseeessaeeasnseeesansseesnsseeessseennnes 14,347,743 10,332,231
Total fund balances.......cceeeeiiiieeeccerrecc e ee s s e renn e e s s e e e nnssssseeennnnnnnns 20,728,012 15,719,820

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fuNd DalanCes........ccveiieeiiieeiiiieeiiiiieiirteiereeerreecerenseseensierensesennnes
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S 23,641,683

$ 17,897,660




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement A-2
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
Revenues
Property taxes:
Current and Prior Years......coueuveeveeeeeveeeeeereesveesveennens S S 12,574,194 S S 11,331,936
Penalties and interest, net of discounts...................... 57,746 7,411
o] - | PSS 12,569,424 12,631,940 62,516 11,339,347
Other taxes and licenses:
Privilege liCeNSEes........ceeecviiieciei e 1,000 805 (195) 955
Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local option sales taX.......cccccveeeeeeieecciiiiiee e e, 5,781,791 4,261,900
Telecommunications sales taX.......cccvvvvveeeveereeeeeeeennnns 54,274 74,249
Utility franchise taX......ccocceeeeeeiciiiieeec e, 1,179,423 1,141,022
Video franchise fee......cccccoiviiiiiiiieee, 77,107 62,564
Beer and WIiNe taX......uueverererurerererererererererererernnnnnn 70,859 59,850
ABC profit distribution.........ccceccvviieeiee i 163,667 153,491
TaX SNAMING. v eaaees 315,498 313,314
O e e 40,856 34,970
o] - | PSS 5,962,500 7,683,475 1,720,975 6,101,360
Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill allocation........cccccceeveviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeens 497,992 354,268
Controlled subsStance taX.....coceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeieee e, 1,726 1,403
ABC Revenue for law enforcement...........eeeeveveverennnens 43,323 38,978
Solid waste disposal taX.......cceceveeerivreeeiiieeeeiiree e, 13,461 10,725
On-behalf of payments - fire.......coccceeeeeecciiieeee e 50,815 48,184
Federal equitable sharing.........cccccooeeevviviiccieee e, 119,771 18,880
ONE NC Grant..cccceeeee e e - -
Cares fUNAiNg.......coocveeeeiciie e - 187,904
Other grants and awards.......ccccceeeecviieeeeeececciieneeee. 2,437 -
Fire district tax funds........ccevvveiviiieiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeieeeeeeeees 501,973 494,324
o] - | PSS 959,570 1,231,498 271,928 1,154,666
Permits and fees:
Building permits.......ccoocciiiieeiiiecccieeee e 712,334 615,935
INSPECLION fEES.....viiiiciiee et 336,176 412,766
Planning fees......coccuuiiieiiiicceeee e 178,488 104,845
Street and utility inspection fees........c.cccceeecieierenneen. 147,650 193,353
Development fees.......coccviieeiiiiccciieee e - -
Otheriiiiii 14,165 11,136
o] - | P S 1,335,652 1,388,813 53,161 1,338,035

Page 68



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement A-2
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual

Revenues (continued)
Sales and services:

Recreation department fees.........ccveevvveeveeneeereennnens S S 141,125 $ S 86,368
SaNItation fEeS....ccoiviiiiiiiee s 524,592 493,408
Cemetery plot Sales.......ccvvevceeeeeiieeeccee e 35,550 36,750
o] =] P TR TT 695,550 701,267 5,717 616,526
Investment earnings.......cccccceceeeerireeennncceeeneeennnceenenns 20,000 9,809 (10,191) 52,436
Miscellaneous:
Material SalesS...cccoveeeeeeeieieeeccc e 1,378 15,140
20T o | S 65,854 69,035
Other grants and awards.......cccccceeeecivieeeeeeeecciieneeeee. 566,050 34,570
(0] 4 0 T=T S U SR SRS U U UUO PP USROS 322,516 133,139
o] - | PR 587,602 955,798 368,196 251,884
TOtal reVeNUES.....ccceueiiriieeeeeeceeererreneneeeee e e e eennaneeeeseenes 22,131,298 24,603,405 2,472,107 20,855,209
Expenditures

General government:
City Council:

Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceeeniiineenrnnn. 58,925 54,410
Other operating expenditures.........cccoceeeeeeercrnnnneenn. 8,928 18,563
TOtAl et 88,127 67,853 20,274 72,973
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceeeviiineennnnnn. 708,008 800,898
Other operating expenditures..........ccccceecvveeecveneens 208,391 160,813
Capital OULlaY...ccccvveeeeeeee e 15,500 -
L] | PSP 1,130,927 931,899 199,028 961,711
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccevcveeeeiieneenns 368,628 317,970
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeeccvnnnneenn. 239,681 212,398
Capital outlay......cceeeeeeiiciiee e, - -
TOtAl et 715,712 608,309 107,403 530,368
Information Technology:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccceeecriiineennnnnn. 178,685 153,763
Other operating expenditures..........ccccceecvveeecvereenns 298,498 249,513
Capital OUlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 151,528 23,600
L] | PRSP 788,857 628,711 160,146 426,876

Page 69



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement A-2
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual

Expenditures (continued)
General government:

Non-departmental:
Salaries and employee benefits.........ccoeeveeverreennennne. S S 127,326 S S 129,300
Other operating expenditures..........ccccevcveeeecvenrens 432,472 443,035
TOtAL e e e 927,893 559,798 368,095 572,335
Total general government.......ccccceeevcveeeecieeeccieee e, 3,651,516 2,796,570 854,946 2,564,263
Public safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceevvieinennnnnnn. 3,471,541 3,272,176
MaiNtENANCE......ueiiiiiieieie e 118,750 70,105
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeercvrnnnennn. 687,082 508,036
Capital outlay......cceeeieiiiciiiee e, 437,788 201,311
o)1= PSSR 5,257,947 4,715,161 542,786 4,051,628
Fire:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceevcrviennennnnnn. 2,653,334 2,582,303
MaiNtENANCE......uuiiiiieiee e 152,125 114,738
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeercrnnnnennn. 289,857 271,156
Capital outlay......cceeeeeiiiciiiee e, 8,807 -
[Le 1= PSSR 3,776,790 3,104,123 672,667 2,968,197
Total public safety.....cccceeeiieiiee e, 9,034,737 7,819,284 1,215,453 7,019,825

Public works:
Public works:

Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeeiieneennns 716,761 742,390
MaiNtENANCE. ..ottt 746,627 1,044,220
Other operating expenditures..........cccceevcvveercveneens 323,806 286,214
Capital OUlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 650,859 8,420
TOtAL e 3,453,742 2,438,053 1,015,689 2,081,244
Public facilities:

Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevevieeeciineenns 292,141 261,431
Y 1T (=T o -] o[l =T PS 207,516 207,847
Other operating expenditures..........ccccceecveeeeiveenenns 60,824 192,633
Capital OULIaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 34,284 -

TOTAl- ettt 914,346 594,765 319,581 661,911
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement A-2
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
Sanitation:
Salaries and employee benefits.........coceevevveieernenne. S 425,570 S 435,920
MaiNtENANCE......uiiiiiieieee e 125,889 128,723
TIPPING FEES ... 477,583 493,088
Other operating expenditures..........cccceeecveeeeiveeeenns 142,373 96,396
Capital OUlaY....cccvveeeeeriee e 311,206 -
TOTAl- ettt 1,768,539 1,482,621 285,918 1,154,127
Total public WOrKS........ceviiiiieeeiee e 6,136,627 4,515,439 1,621,188 3,897,282
Recreation:
Parks and recreation:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeeiieeeenns 847,152 778,229
MaiNtENANCE.....evvvieeeeeeeeece e 201,970 217,503
Other operating expenditures..........cccceeecveeercveneens 489,376 297,581
Capital OULlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 549,981 839,027
TOtAL et e 2,640,417 2,088,479 551,938 2,132,340
Total recreation......ccccveeeeceeeecciee e 2,640,417 2,088,479 551,938 2,132,340
Economic and physical development:
Planning:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeecieneenns 260,218 235,444
MaiNtENANCE. ..ottt 9,733 958
Professional Services.......cccoovvvvviiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeees 62,769 64,500
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeeecvrnnnennn. 88,129 65,006
Capital outlay......ccceeeeieiiciiee e, 31,284 -
[Le 1= PSR 584,593 452,133 132,460 365,908
Inspections:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceeeriiiniennnnnn. 546,524 488,194
MaiNtENANCE......uui it 2,718 1,593
Professional Services.......ccccceeveeciiieeeiee e - -
Other operating expenditures..........cccceceecveeeecveneens 33,798 21,919
Capital OULlaY...ccccvvee e 276,340 35,293
TOtAL it 890,067 859,380 30,687 546,999
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services.........cccccovvvereuneeenn. 87,660 60,000
Professional services stormwater..........ccccvvvvvvvvennnnn. 70,000 81,500
Professional Services.......ccccccvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee, 293,828 289,000
[Le 1= PSR 451,488 451,488 - 430,500
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021)

Statement A-2

Expenditures (continued)

Main Street Program:
Professional services

Economic development:
Other operating expenditures

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement
Interest and other charges

Total debt service
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in...cvevcee e
Transfers OUt......cccvveeeieeinieeniienns
Proceeds from long-term debt obligations issued

Total other financing sources (uses)

Fund balance appropriated

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

------------------------------------------------------

2022
Variance
Positive

Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
$ 47,875 $ S 4,688
17,320 3,985

151,810 65,195 86,615 8,673
755,349 847,092

1,745,800 755,349 990,451 847,092
3,823,758 2,583,545 1,240,213 2,199,172
1,415,802 1,415,799 3 1,239,573
204,200 178,525 25,675 211,159
1,620,002 1,594,324 25,678 1,450,732
26,907,057 21,397,641 5,509,416 19,263,614
(4,775,759) 3,205,764 7,981,523 1,591,595

- 566,851 566,851 -
(908,240) (129,423) 778,817 (1,144,592)
1,364,044 1,365,000 956 430,500
455,804 1,802,428 1,346,624 (714,092)
4,319,955 - (4,319,955) -

S - 5,008,192 S 5,008,192 877,503
15,719,820 14,842,317
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$ 20,728,012

$ 15,719,820



Non-Major
Governmental Funds

Non-major governmental funds are those funds whose
revenues, expenditures/expenses, assets or liabilities
are less than 10% of corresponding totals for all
governmental or enterprise funds or less than 5% of the
aggregate amount for all governmental and enterprise
funds for the same item.

e The Mebane Mills Loft Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG) Special Revenue Fund - This
fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns
Building into subsidized housing.

e (Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to account
for various General Fund capital expenditures that
are expected to be completed within one year.

e The Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the land purchase and
construction of the city park.

e The Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project
Fund - This fund is used to account for the
construction of the Lake Michael Dam Spillway.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2022 Statement B-1
Special
Revenue Fund Capital Project Capital Project Total

- CDBG - Capital Project Fund - Cates Fund - Lake Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Fund - General Farm Park Michael Dam Governmental

Loft Fund Project Spillway Funds
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents ...........c.......... S - S - S 13,515 S - S 13,515

Restricted cash......cccceeuvevvvevevieviieieeieeeeees 141,439 - - - 141,439
Total assets....ccccvvrrreeeeeeereeeenneeeeeeeeensssnnnnes S 141,439 S - S 13,515 S - S 154,954
Liabilties and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable.......c.cccoeevieeieiiiriennn S - S - S 13,515 S - S 13,515
Total liabilities ...cccccevveirreeirrenerreneiennnnent - - 13,515 - 13,515
Fund balances:

Restricted

Economic development..........ccccuveeeeen.. 141,439 - - - 141,439

Assigned

Capital improvements.........cccccveeevveenne - - - - -
Total fund balances.........cccccerrevenneeennnnnee. 141,439 - - - 141,439
Total liabilities and fund balances........... S 141,439 S - S 13,515 S - S 154,954
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Statement B-2
Special
Revenue Capital Capital Total
Fund - CDBG - Capital Project Fund - Project Fund - Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Project Fund - Cates Farm Lake Michael Governmental
Loft General Fund Park Project Dam Spillway Funds
Revenues
Program reVENUE........c.ecveereeereeveereeireesrenseens S 11,174 S - S - S - S 11,174
Interest earnings......ccccceveveeeeieieeeeieceeeeee 2,806 - - - 2,806
Total revenues.........coceeeeiiineniiiiinnneiniinnnne 13,980 - - - 13,980

Expenditures

Capital outlay - other........ccccoceeieiiiiieenennnn, - - 44,170 85,253 129,423
Capital outlay - equipment........cccccceeeeunnneen. - - - - -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeeveeeeeeeneennnnnnnnn. - - 44,170 85,253 129,423

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 13,980 - (44,170) (85,253) (115,443)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers from other funds..........cccceeeeennnen. - - 44,170 85,253 129,423

Transfers to other funds.........cccoveeeveeennnenn. - (566,851) - - (566,851)

Appropriated fund balance............cccuue........ - - - - -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)............ - (566,851) 44,170 85,253 (437,428)
Net change in fund balances..........cccccuvvenneeen. 13,980 (566,851) - - (552,871)
Fund balances - beginning..........cccccceevvvennneen. 127,459 566,851 - - 694,310
Fund balances - ending........cccoevceveeeeerrrreennn. S 141,439 $ - S - S - S 141,439
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Revenue Fund - CDBG - Mebane Mills Loft

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Statement B-3
Actual
Variance
Current Positive
Authorization Prior Years Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
(01521 C USRS S 250,000 $ 250,000 $ - S 250,000 S -
Program revenue- principal receipts....... - 87,095 11,174 98,269 98,269
Program revenue- interest receipts........ - 38,311 2,752 41,063 41,063
Investment earnings......ccccccvveveveveieienennnn. - 2,053 54 2,107 2,107
Total revenues.......ceeceeereeeeeecierneeennceennennns 250,000 377,459 13,980 391,439 141,439

Expenditures

Pedestrian improvements....................... 56,700 56,700 - 56,700 -
Historic preservation........ccccceveeveeeeenennen. 145,645 145,645 - 145,645 -
Other actiVitiesS......vuveeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeieieeeeeen, 27,655 27,655 - 27,655 -
Administration......ccecvveeeeiiiiieeiee s 20,000 20,000 - 20,000 -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeeveeeeeeeennnnnnns 250,000 250,000 - 250,000 -
Revenue over (under) expenditures......... - 127,459 13,980 141,439 141,439
Net change in fund balance...........c..coeu... S - S 127,459 13,980 S 141,439 S 141,439
Fund balance, July 1.........ccccooeiiiniinnnnnnn. 127,459
Fund balance, June 30.........ccccceeerrrrrreeeeee S 141,439
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - General Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Statement B-4
Variance
Budget Positive
Authorization Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
Expenditures
1 o SRS S - S - S - S -
Holt St Greenway........cccceeeeeeeviiieeee e - - - 24,256
Foust Road widening.......cccceevvveeeeiieeeecnee e, - - - 117,390

Bike and Ped maintenance...........cccccoveveeeeeecnnnnes - - - -
3rd Street Alleyway- drainage maint................. - - - -
Streets maintenance..........ccccceeeeeieeieiececcccn, - - - -
Sidewalk construction.......cccccvvveveveviiiiiiiiiininnn, - - - 65,264
Public works vehicles.........cccveeeeeeieiiieiiiiiiiiinininn, - - - 156,910
Inspections and planning building..................... - - - -
Fire vehicles. ..o, - - - -

Capital Outlay - Lake Michael Dam.................... - - - 129,100
Capital Outlay - Cates Farm Park.........cccccvveennns - - - -
Total expenditures........cccceveeiiiiiinnnenennnnnnnnnneneenees - - - 492,920
Revenue over (under) expenditures................... - - - (492,920)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in (out):
From General Fund for

capital improvements.........cccccceeiieiciiiieee e, - - - 1,059,769
To General Fund for
for project closeout...........ccceeeeeciieeeciieecrenene. - (566,851) 566,851 -
Appropriated fund balance...........cccccevveereennnns - - - -
Total other financing sources (US€es)........cccceeuvee... - (566,851) 566,851 1,059,769

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses........cccccceveveereennnen S - (566,851) S 566,851 566,849
Fund balance, July 1........cccccooieiiiiiieeee e, 566,851 2
Fund balance, June 30........cccccceererrrreeeeeeeeeeneennnnes S - S 566,851

Page 76



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Capital Project Fund - Cates Farm Park Project
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement B-5

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
Expenditures
Professional SerViCeS.....covvveeeeeveeeeereeeeeeeenn. S 888 § - S - S - S 888
Design and engineering.......ccccccoecvvveeeeeennnns 50,550 - 44,170 44,170 6,380
Construction administration.............eeeevveeeees 17,200 - - - 17,200
CoNSErUCtioN.....ueveeiie e 612,323 84,823 - 84,823 527,500
Total expenditures.....c.ccceereeeenceerieeennecennenes 680,961 84,823 44,170 128,993 551,968
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (680,961) (84,823) (44,170) (128,993) 551,968
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements........c.ccceeeeeveeernenn. 680,961 84,823 44,170 128,993 (551,968)
Total other financing sources (uses)............... 680,961 84,823 44,170 128,993 (551,968)
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses............c..c..... S - S - - S - S -

Fund balance, July 1.......ccoovveiiiiiieeeieeees
Fund balance, June 30.........cccovreeuecerrrreennnnns
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Capital Project Fund - Lake Michael Dam Spillway

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 Statement B-6

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Design and engineering..........cceeeevveeveereenenne. S 908,240 S - S 85,253 S 85,253 S 822,987
Total expenditures........cccoeeviiiinnneennnnnnsssnnns 908,240 - 85,253 85,253 822,987
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (908,240) - (85,253) (85,253) 822,987

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for

capital improvements.........cocceveeereeneenienns 908,240 - 85,253 85,253 (822,987)
Total other financing sources (uses)............... 908,240 - 85,253 85,253 (822,987)
Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses............ccceuee. S - S - - S - S -

Fund balance, July 1......cccccoviiniiiiniiniiieeene -
Fund balance, June 30........ceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnns S -
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Proprietary Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises, where the intent of the
government's board is that the costs of providing goods
or services to the general public on a continuing basis
be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges; or where the government's board has decided
that periodic determination of net income is
appropriate for accountability purposes.

e Water and Sewer Fund - This fund is used to
account for the operations of the City’s water and
sewer system.

¢ System Development Capital Reserve Fund - This
fund is specifically dedicated to setting aside
financial resources for long term or large-scale
capital projects for the proprietary fund. Revenue
generated from system development fees are used
as a funding source.

e Utility - Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to
account for various Utility capital expenditures that
are expected to be completed within one year.

¢ WRRF Renovation - Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the construction upgrade
of the City’s water resource recovery facility.

¢ WRREF 0.5 MGD Expansion - Capital Project Fund
- This fund is used to account for the construction
expansion of the City’s water resource recovery
facility.

e American Rescue Plan - Grant Project Fund -
This fund is used to account for expenditures related
to the American Rescue Plan Grant.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2022 and 2021 Statement C-1
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and eQUIVAIENTS........ceeiieieieccteee ettt ettt ettt ere e re s S 10,061,364 S 7,511,270
YY1 o1 £=]o o= 1] o TN 14,484,677 3,136,703
Accounts Receivable, net - billed.........oouviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 765,038 657,559
Accounts Receivable, net - unbilled........cooooieieiiiicicrrevere s 341,998 320,655
(01 (= N E= o= \VZ | o] [=T T 5,121 6,419
Due from other GOVEIrNMENTS..........uuiiiiiiiiieee e e - -
[T o =T o I (=T o USSPt - -

TOtal CUITENT @SSO cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee et e e e s e s e s e s e s b arasabarererereeeeees 25,658,198 11,632,606

Non-current assets:
Capital assets:

Land and other non-depreciable assets.........cccvvevieiercineneneeeeee 3,681,335 1,122,119
Other capital assets, net of depreciation..........ccceeeecieeiciieeecee e 57,456,848 53,865,126
Total CAPital @SSEES..uiiii it e e e e a s 61,138,183 54,987,245
B = N g o B o0 =] g = R =] ST 61,138,183 54,987,245
L] & 1 I T =1 U 86,796,381 66,619,851
Deferred OULFIOWS Of F@SOUICES. ... ciivuirireieienierereieteniereneierreserenssessesseresssessannens 1,187,413 971,957
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources......cccccceeeeeeecciiirrsneeeeeeeeeeeeeeesnns S 87,983,794 S 67,591,808
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..........ccvovveerieieeiieieiecceee e S 1,793,902 S 323,697
Accrued interest Payable.........uv i e 92,665 36,135
Due to Other GOVEINMENTS.....cccuuiiiieee e e e e e e arae e e e e - 262,325
Payable from restricted @SSets.......covuiiiiiiiieciiie e 738,766 671,341
UNEAINEA FEVENUES....evvveviieeeiieeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieteeeeeeeeeeeee et teteteeeeeeessssssssssssnnanes 546,199 -
Compensated @DSENCES. .....cuuii et rarae s 73,570 66,299
LoNg-term debt - CUITENT. ... e e e e aare e e e e 356,415 767,542
BoNnds payable - CUMTENT.......oei i e 964,000 -
B o = eV TR £=1 0 o L= o 1L =N 4,565,517 2,127,339
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated AbSENCES.........ueiii i e 15,170 12,690
Net Pension lIability........c.er e e 233,615 542,215
Other postemployment benefits.......cccooiiiiei e, 1,757,921 1,494,607
Long-term debt - NONCUITENT......cvii i 7,670,516 5,957,950
Bonds payable - NONCUITENT.......cccuiii et e e e sree e 7,937,942 -
Total noncurrent liabilities. ... 17,615,164 8,007,462
Total liabilities.....ccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeececeeeeenrrrsss s sess s e s e e s e e e e e e e s e s snnnnssssssssssnnns 22,180,681 10,134,801
Deferred INfIOWS Of r@SOUICES........ciieeiiiieiiieniireeirteniirenesereensrennseseansssesssesennnens 438,226 94,556
Net Position
Net investment in capital @SSETS.....ccuiiiiiiiiiiciie e 53,706,014 48,261,754
Restricted for future system development........ccccoccviiieeiiiieiciiieee e 3,702,258 2,465,362
1Y T o Lot =T ISP 7,956,615 6,635,335
Total Net POSItION......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirirrrrcerreereeee s ss s s s s s s s e s e s s s s e s e s sessssnnnnnsnnnnn: 65,364,387 57,362,451
Total liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and net position...................... S 87,983,794 S 67,591,808
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2022 Statement C-2
WRRF 0.5
System WRRF MGD
Development Capital Renovation  Expansion American
Operating Capital Project Fund Capital Capital Rescue Plan
Fund Reserve Fund - Utility Project Fund Project Fund Grant Project Total

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and equivalents.........cccceeeeeveeereeeereenenns. S 9,870,264 S - S - S - S 191,100 S - S 10,061,364

Restricted cash.......ccccveeceeeciieceeceeeee e, 2,591,925 3,702,258 - 7,643,545 - 546,949 14,484,677

Accounts receivable, net - billed..........cc.......... 765,038 - - - - - 765,038

Accounts receivable, net - unbilled.. 341,998 - - - - - 341,998

Other receivables................ 5,121 - - - - - 5,121

Due from other governments.

Prepaid items........coeveiieeeiee e - - - - - - -

Non-capital eliminations..........ccccccueeeeiciveeennnes - - - - - - -
Total current assets......oceeveeveeneeniereenieeieneen, 13,574,346 3,702,258 - 7,643,545 191,100 546,949 25,658,198
Non-current assets:

Capital assets:

Land and other non-depreciable assets......... 3,681,335 - - - - - 3,681,335
Other capital assets, net of depreciation....... 57,456,848 - - - - - 57,456,848
Total capital assetS......ccevvveerveereeriieenieesieene 61,138,183 - - - - - 61,138,183
Total non-current assets.......cooveeeeeveeeeevcreeeeenne, 61,138,183 - - - - - 61,138,183
Total @SSetS...uuuuieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiisssnnneenenneiessesssssnen 74,712,529 3,702,258 - 7,643,545 191,100 546,949 86,796,381
Deferred outflows of resources..........ccceveeenee 1,187,413 - - - - - 1,187,413
Total assets and deferred outflows
Of F@SOUICES..cuueeeeereerereeiierernnnnnneeeeneeeeseennnns $ 75,899,942 $ 3,702,258 S - $ 7,643,545 S 191,100 S 546,949 $ 87,983,794
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities......... S 1,017,428 S - S - $ 585374 S 191,100 S - S 1,793,902
Accrued interest payable.........cccceeeeeiienieennes 92,665 - - - - - 92,665

Due to other governments.........cccccoceveeveennnnne. - - - - - - _

Payable from restricted assets.. 738,766 - - - - - 738,766
Unearned revenues................ - - - - - 546,199 546,199
Compensated absences... 73,570 - - - - - 73,570
Long-term debt - current.........ccceccveeeveecnneennen. 356,415 - - - - - 356,415
Bonds payable - current........cccceeeeviieeieiieeennnns - - - 964,000 - - 964,000
Total current liabilities.........ccccveveevireeeeeiivreeeennnes 2,278,844 - - 1,549,374 191,100 546,199 4,565,517
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 15,170 - - - - - 15,170
Net pension liability.........cccc...... 233,615 - - - - - 233,615
Other postemployment benefits........c.ccccuene. 1,757,921 - - - - - 1,757,921
Long-term debt - noncurrent.......cccceceerveennnn. 7,670,516 - - - - - 7,670,516
Bonds payable - current.........coocvevveviieencieennn. - - - 7,937,942 - - 7,937,942
Total noncurrent liabilities.........coceeeevvveeeennnen.. 9,677,222 - - 7,937,942 - - 17,615,164
Total liabilities........ccovrvvnereriiiiiiniiisisssnnnneennnne 11,956,066 - - 9,487,316 191,100 546,199 22,180,681
Deferred inflows of resources..........ccceeeerereenen 438,226 - - - - - 438,226
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets..........ccceeuvenes 53,706,014 - - - - - 53,706,014
Restricted for future system development..... - 3,702,258 - - - - 3,702,258
Unrestricted ....cvveeeeeeeeeciieeeeeee e, 9,799,636 - - (1,843,771) - 750 7,956,615
Total net position.......ccccceeeeeeeeeeerecececcrsssennnnes 63,505,650 3,702,258 - (1,843,771) - 750 65,364,887
Total liabilities, deferred outflows
of resources, and net position..........c..e...... S 75,899,942 S 3,702,258 S - $ 7,643,545 $ 191,100 S 546,949 S 87,983,794
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2022 Statement C-3
WRRF 0.5
System WRRF MGD
Development Capital Renovation Expansion American
Operating Capital Project Fund - Capital Project Capital Rescue Plan
Fund Reserve Fund Utility Fund Project Fund Grant Project Eliminations Total

Operating Revenues

Charges for services.........cooeeuevevverennnne. S 7,616,776 S - S - S - S - S - S - S 7,616,776

Water and sewer taps......ccoceereereereens 26,279 - - - - - - 26,279

Connection fees.......eevvveeviveeeiveeecveennns 215,790 1,434,780 - - - - - 1,650,570

Miscellaneous.........cccueeeeveeecveeeireeeennenn. 415,476 - - - - - - 415,476
Total operating revenues........cccceeeuueeee 8,274,321 1,434,780 - - - - - 9,709,101

Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and billing....... 959,494 - - - - - - 959,494
Utility maintenance... . 2,798,410 - - - - - - 2,798,410
Engineering......cccceeveevvveernenenne . 306,902 - - - - - - 306,902
Water resource recovery facility.......... 1,621,109 - - - - - - 1,621,109
Non-departmental........ccoccevveereeneennen. 64,185 - - - - - - 64,185
Depreciation......coccceeevieenreenieeenieenies 1,710,866 - - - - - - 1,710,866
Total operating expenses..........ccereeenne 7,460,966 - - - - - - 7,460,966
Operating income (l0sS).......ccceeeeuneeenn. 813,355 1,434,780 - - - - - 2,248,135
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest and investment revenue. , 4,549 1,293 - 7,486 - 750 - 14,078
Other..uicciecciee e . 44,539 - - - - - - 44,539
Interest expense..... . (196,006) - - - - - - (196,006)
ARPA Grant Proceeds.........ccovvvveeeeennnnns - - - - - 2,045,130 - 2,045,130
Total nonoperating
revenues (EXpenses)......ccceeeeerersssnness (146,918) 1,293 - 7,486 - 2,045,880 - 1,907,741
Income (loss) before
contributions and transfers................... 666,437 1,436,073 - 7,486 - 2,045,880 - 4,155,876
Capital contributions................ . 3,422,692 - - - - - - 3,422,692
Expense transfer from projects.............. 2,312,718 - - (1,295,972)  (1,016,746) - - -
Capital asset transfers from
other funds.... . 423,868 - - - - - - 423,868
Transfers in..... . 3,025,062 - - - 1,016,746 - - 4,041,808
Transfers out............ (1,016,746) (199,177) (197,755) (583,000) - (2,045,130) - (4,041,808)
Change in net position.... 8,834,031 1,236,896 (197,755) (1,871,486) - 750 - 8,002,436
Total net position - beginning................. 54,671,619 2,465,362 197,755 27,715 - - - 57,362,451
Total net position - ending..........cc....... $ 63,505,650 $ 3,702,258 S - S (1,843,771) S - S 750 S - S 65,364,887
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Water

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

and Sewer Fund

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement C-4
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
Water Sales....cooccuuieieieieie e 3,839,044 S 3,355,092
SeWer Charges......ccouveeeeciiee e 3,783,019 3,436,667
Water and sewer taps......cccccveevvveeeenciveeesscnnennn. 26,279 37,002
TOtAl e 7,425,200 7,648,342 223,142 6,828,761
Other operating revenues:
Other operating revenues..........cccceveevcvveeeeennnen. 631,269 748,941
TOtAl e 757,545 631,269 (126,276) 748,941
Other nonoperating revenues:
(0] 1 1= SRS 44,539 (97,543)
Interest and investment earnings..........cccou..... 4,548 23,478
TOtAl e (61,000) 49,087 110,087 (74,065)
Total revenuUES.........ceuereeiieeiieeiereiereeereeceeneenenes 8,121,745 8,328,698 206,953 7,503,637
Expenditures
Administration, meters and billing:
Salaries and employee benefits..........cc.ue..... 748,052 707,312
SUPPHIES. ..ttt 27,749 24,946
Other operating expenditures.........ccccccevveeennns 178,553 157,221
TOtal et 1,168,739 954,354 214,385 889,479
Utility maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits..........cc.uee..... 1,013,294 951,134
Chemicals......coooviiveeeiiee e 133,824 90,678
SUPPIIES. ettt 125,272 114,169
MaiNtENANCE.....vvveetiecccceeeeeeee e 139,117 166,120
Purchases of Water ........ccccevvvvvvvveeeieee i, 980,001 839,426
Highway 119 project expenses..........ccccuveeennes - -
Other operating expenditures.........ccccccevveeenns 350,574 318,816
TOtal et 3,449,311 2,742,082 707,229 2,480,343
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services.................... 124,447 84,000
Other operating expenditures.........cccccccvveeennns 182,455 176,000
TOtAl e et 325,000 306,902 18,098 260,000
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement C-4
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual

Expenditures (continued)
Water resource recovery facility:

Salaries and employee benefits.........c.cveu..n.. S 672,838 S 697,614
Chemicals......coooviiveeeeiee e 88,949 99,026
SUPPHES. ..ttt 37,770 35,026
MaiNtENANCE....ovvvvvriiccceeeeeeee e, 517,437 481,343
Other operating expenditures.........cccccccvveeennns 272,907 236,084
TOtal et 2,038,040 1,589,901 448,139 1,549,093
Non-departmental:

Other operating expenditures.........ccccceeuveeeenns 64,185 -

TOtAleeeieeeeit e 236,930 64,185 172,745 -

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement...........ccoceveeiiieeeeccieeeeeeine 4,112,843 3,492,619 620,224 758,542
Interest and other charges........cccccevecvveeevnneenn. 244,321 139,476 104,845 91,182
TOtal et 4,357,164 3,632,095 725,069 849,724

Capital outlay:

Miscellaneous water........ccccueeeeeeeeiiiiiiiivneeineenns 3,878,106 1,492,215 2,385,891 423,017
Miscellaneous SEWEeTr.......cccvveveveeeeeeiiirieiinrneeeens 187,058 210,312 (23,254) 162,421
TOtAleeieieie e 4,065,164 1,702,527 2,362,637 585,438
Total expenditures........ccccceveeeeiiiniiinnneennesiicinnnnnn 15,640,348 10,992,046 4,648,302 6,614,077
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over eXpenditures.........ccceeveeeeeenennnneeeeeeeeeeennnnns (7,518,603) (2,663,348) 4,855,255 889,560

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

TrANSTIS INueeiieeiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeees 699,177 3,025,062 2,325,885 -

TIANSTEIS OUL...eveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeseeenees (3,525,000) (1,016,746) 2,508,254 (450,000)

Proceeds from long-term debt.........ccccccveerenennnee 4,794,058 4,794,058 - -
Total other financing sources (uses).................... 1,968,235 6,802,374 4,834,139 (450,000)
Fund balance appropriated........c.cccceeevvevireeeiienne 5,550,368 - (5,550,368) -

Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses..........ccceeeeereerneenn. S - S 4,139,026 S 4,139,026 S 439,560
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement C-4
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual

Reconciliation from budgetary basis
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other uses........cccceeveeeerreeennne S 4,139,026 S 439,560
Reconciling items:

Principal retirement..........ccoceeeeeiiieeicceee e, 3,492,619 758,542
Capital outlays......ccceeeeciieeiiciieee e 1,702,527 585,438
Proceeds from long-term debt.............cccvveennnee (4,794,058) -
Increase (decrease) in receivable allowance....... (26,631) 15,632
Increase (decrease) in unbilled receivables......... 21,343 31,696
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest

PAYabIE ... (56,530) 3,928
(Increase) decrease in vacation pay.......cccceeeeunee (9,749) (2,915)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - PeNSIONS.......ccueeeeeeveeeeeeciieeeeeennns 141,958 (12,721)
(Increase) decrease in net pension liability.......... 308,600 (137,128)
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - PeNSIONS......cccueeeeeeveeeeeccirieeeeennns (361,003) -
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - OPEB.......covvviiiiiiiiciiieeeeeeeecceeenenn 73,498 291,847
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - OPEB.......coovviiiiiiiiciniieeeeeeeeeeeeenenn 17,333 17,174
(Increase) decrease in OPEB liability (263,314) (433,037)
Depreciation.......ccueeeeecieee e (1,710,866) (1,626,168)
Amortization of deferred loss

on refunding......ccocccvveeiicieiiccee e, - -

Capital contributions.........ccccceeeeeeiiiieeccieee e 3,422,692 2,890,267
Interest income from Water and Sewer

Capital Project Funds..........cccccvveeeeeiieeeccciieenen. 9,529 4,595
Capital asset transfers from

Other fuNdS......eeeviiiiiiiiiiiieeeee s 423,868 -
Restricted income from System Development

Capital Reserve Fund.........cccccceeecvieeeiciienecennns 1,434,780 1,527,703
Income from American Rescue Plan Grant

Project Special Revenue Fund.............cccccuueen.. 2,045,130 -
Net Transfers to (from) Capital Project funds...... (2,008,316) (37,846)
Total reconciling items.......ccccceeevevieieivcciee e 3,863,410 3,877,007
Change in net position........cccceeeeeeeevreeeeecreeneenne S 8,002,436 S 4,316,567
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
System Development Capital Reserve Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021) Statement C-5
2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
System Development Fees- Water...................... S S 425919 § S 392,211
System Development Fees- Sewer...................... 1,008,861 1,135,492
TOtAl e 1,107,000 1,434,780 327,780 1,527,703
Other nonoperating revenues:
Interest and investment earnings..................... 1,293 4,595
o] - | OSSR 2,500 1,293 (1,207) 4,595
Total revVeNnUES.....cceeeecerreeeeeccerreeeenceeereennnseeeneeens 1,109,500 1,436,073 326,573 1,532,298

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures........ccccceeeiiiiiieeeeennneneeennssnnnes 1,109,500 1,436,073 326,573 1,532,298

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Utility Capital ReServe.......ccccevcveeevveeeecvee e, (609,500) - 609,500 -
Transfers to other funds:
Utility Capital Project Fund........ccccceevvveueennnen. (699,177) (199,177) 500,000 (37,846)
Appropriated fund balance..........cccceeevvveeciennns 199,177 - (199,177) -
Total other financing sources (uses)................... (1,109,500) (199,177) 910,323 (37,846)

Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses........ccccceveeeeeeernnes S - S 1,236,896 S 1,236,896 S 1,494,452
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Capital Project Fund - Utility

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021)

Statement C-6

Expenditures

Oversizing sewer liNes........cccceeeeeciieeeeeeccivneeennn.
Meter changeout project........cccceevveeeeceveeernnenn.
Arbor Creek outfall.......cccceviniieiiniiiiiieieeen,
WRRF floodwall.......cccoeeiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeiee e,

Total expenditures........ccceeeeeiiiiiieeceeeeeeennneennne

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures........ccccvriiiiininieeeennnnneennennees

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in (out):
From Water and Sewer Fund for

utility capital improvements..........cccccuveeeen..

From Utility Capital Reserve Fund

for utility capital improvements.....................

To Water and Sewer Fund

for project closeout..........ccccvveeeieeicciineeeeen.
Appropriated fund balance..........c..ccoccvvieeeennn.

Total other financing sources (uses)..................

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses........ccccceervveennnnnne.

2022
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2021 Actual
S - S S -
- 487,846
- - - 487,846
- - - (487,846)
- - 450,000
. - - 37,846
- (197,755) (197,755) -
- (197,755) (197,755) 487,846
- $  (197,755) $  (197,755) ¢ -
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement C-7

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings........coeeveveeeveennnene. S - S - 7,486 S 7,486 S 7,486
Total revenues........ceveeereeeereeniereneneennnes - - 7,486 7,486 7,486
Expenditures
Professional services........cccvvvvvvveeveerennns 101,284 - 92,284 92,284 9,000
Design and engineering..........ccccccuvveeen... 555,285 555,285 - 555,285 -
Construction administration................... 541,390 - 141,324 141,324 400,066
ConstrucCtion......c.cccveeeeciee e, 6,927,000 - 538,614 538,614 6,388,386
EQUIPMENt....coeiiieeeee e 523,750 - 523,750 523,750 -
ContingencCy......oeeveeeeeeeeieeaaee 253,233 - - - 253,233
Total expenditures.......cccevveeennceerreennnnnns 8,901,942 555,285 1,295,972 1,851,257 7,050,685
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (8,901,942) (555,285) (1,288,486)  (1,843,771) 7,058,171
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... - 583,000 - 583,000 583,000
Operating transfers out:
To Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... - - (583,000) (583,000) (583,000)
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUBM...vieeeiiee e 8,901,942 - 8,901,942 8,901,942 -
Total other financing sources (uses)......... 8,901,942 583,000 8,318,942 8,901,942 -

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................ S -

S 27,715 $§ 7,030,456 $ 7,058,171 S 7,058,171
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement C-8

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)
Expenditures
Design and engineering...........cceeeveeveenn.. S 3,525,000 $ - S 1,016,746 S 1,016,746 S 2,508,254
ContingencCy......ooeeeeeeeeieiecee - - - - -
Total expenditures........cccerveeennieerreennnnnns 3,525,000 - 1,016,746 1,016,746 2,508,254
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (3,525,000) - (1,016,746)  (1,016,746) 2,508,254
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... 3,525,000 - 1,016,746 1,016,746 (2,508,254)
Total other financing sources (uses)......... 3,525,000 - 1,016,746 1,016,746 (2,508,254)
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................ S - S - S - S - S -
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

American Rescue Plan Grant Project

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement C-9

Authorization

Actual

Variance
Positive
Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

Revenues

ARPA Grant Proceeds.......coveeveeeeeveveeeeeeeeerennns S 5,182,478 §

Investment earnings........cooeeveveieiciiiiiiniiinnennns -

S 2,045,130 $ 2,045,130 S (3,137,348)
750 750 750

Total revenUES.....cceeeeeerreeeeeccerreeeeneceereennnnens 5,182,478

2,045,880 2,045,880 (3,136,598)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers out:
To Water and Sewer Fund for
salaries and benefits reimbursements.......... (5,182,478)

(2,045,130)  (2,045,130) 3,137,348

Total other financing sources (uses)................. (5,182,478)

(2,045,130)  (2,045,130) 3,137,348

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses.........ccccceveeeennnee. S -

S 750 S 750 S 750
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Additional
Financial Data

This section contains additional information on property
taxes and interfund transfers.

e Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
e Analysis of Current Tax Levy

e Schedule of Ten Largest Taxpayers






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

June 30, 2022 Schedule D-1
Uncollected Uncollected
Balance_ Collections Balance
Fiscal Year 6/30/2021  Additions and Credits 6/30/2022
2021-2022..ce ettt ettt s et e s sa e e s S - $ 12,478,822 $12,448,629 S 30,193
2020-2021....ci ettt s e e sa e e s 40,593 - 23,199 17,394
2019-2020....cc et eererererie e eeesereessee e esr e st e assaeaenne s 13,354 - 4,984 8,370
2018-2019... ettt st e e s 12,848 - 1,626 11,222
2017-2018 2,983 - 296 2,687
2016-2017 2,280 - 1,169 1,111
2015-2016 4,621 - 106 4,515
2014-2015 4,284 - 94 4,190
2013-2014.... e e 4,504 - 35 4,469
2012-2013... e e e e e eeees 5,092 - (16) 5,108
20070-2012..c it e e e e e eaees 4,155 - 4,155 -
$ 94714 $12,478,822 $ 12,484,277 89,259
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (General FUNd)........cccccvvveecieiiiiiee e 11,695
Ad valorem taxes reCeivable - NET......ccccciiieeieieiirieeiirieeiereneietenertsesietesserssssssrsssessssssssanssssssssssanses S 77,564
Reconciliation with revenues:
Ad valorem taxes - GENEIal FUNG.......uuviiiiieiiiiiiieeeeeee ettt ettt e s e s e s s $ 12,631,940
Add (subtract):
Penalties and interest, Net Of diSCOUNTS........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e e (57,746)
Amount written off for tax year 2011-2012..........eeiiiiieeieiee e cieeeeeeeere e e e e e rere e e e ere e e srre e e sraeeaeas 4,155
Refunds and other adjuStMENTS........coocuiii i e e st eente e e e e enneas (94,072)
Total collections AN CreditS.......ciiieeiiieeiiieeirieniereeeiereeeieressseressseressessssssessssssssssssssassssssssssssssssane: S 12,484,277
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Schedule D-2

City - Wide Total Levy
Property
Excluding
Registered Registered
Total Property Amount of Motor. Motor_
Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles
Tax levy:
Real Property .....eeeeveveeeveeeecieesieeeeeneen $1,931,258,902 0.47 S 9,076,917 S 9,076,917 S -
Personal property .....ccccceeeeviveeeeeeecnneennn. 706,724,061 0.47 3,321,603 2,426,025 895,578
Public service companies........ccceccveerunenn. 17,085,572 0.47 80,302 80,302 -
SUDLOLalS....eieeieeieecie e 2,655,068,535 12,478,822 11,583,244 895,578
Less: Homestead exemptions.................. (352,483) 0.47 (1,657) (1,657) -
1 o] -] £ ON S 2,654,716,052 12,477,165 11,581,587 895,578
Advertising, interest cost and
late filing fees...cccvvveiiniiiieeeieeee 13,294 13,294 -
GrosS leVY...coocuiiiieee et 12,490,459 11,594,881 895,578
Release and adjustments........cccccveeeneen. - - -
Net leVY....ooccieeeeeeeeeee e, 12,490,459 11,594,881 895,578
Uncollected taxes
atJune 30, 2021...cceeeviieiieeiee e 30,193 22,170 8,023
Current year taxes collected.................. $12,460,266 S 11,572,711 § 887,555
Current levy collection percentage........ 99.76% 99.81% 99.10%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 Schedule D-3

Secondary Market Disclosures:
Assessed Valuation:

Assessment Ratio (NOTE 1)....ccuiieecieiiiiieeeeiee e 100%
Current Year Rate Prior Year Rate
REAI PrOPEItY....viieeecteeti ettt ettt ete ettt et e eaeereesteeaeeanens S 1,931,258,902 S -
Personal Property......ueeee ittt 704,000,231 2,723,830
Public service companies (NOte 2).......cccceeeeiiieeciieeeciieeeeieeeeaas 17,085,572 -
Total Assessed Valuation......ccccccueverurerrveirieeeeeeeeeinieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenns 2,652,344,705 2,723,830
Tax Rate Per S100.......cocvuiieiiieieeeieeeecte ettt eaeens 0.47 0.47
12,466,020 12,802
LEVY . cevieteeete et ettt ettt ettt et e ettt e et eae e e ete et e s re e te e teereeateetesaaearean S 12,478,822

Note 1: Percentage of appraised value has been established by statute.
Note 2: Valuation of railroads, telephone companies and other utilities
as determined by the North Carolina Property Tax Commission.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ten Largest Taxpayers
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 Schedule D-4
Percentage
of Total
Assessed Assessed
Name Type of Enterprise Valuation Tax Levy  Valuation
GKN Automotive

ComMpPoNeNtS......euvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeerereenns Auto Components Manufacturing............. $ 85,655,962 S 402,583 3.23%
Liggett Group - One Hundred

Maple, LLC....ceecvreeeeree e, Tobacco Manufacturing........cccceeeeveeennenn. 53,505,837 $ 251,477 2.02%
Industrial Connections &

Solutions LLC......cccceevveeeecierenen. Electronics Manufacturing.........ccccceeeuneee. 52,653,817 S 247,473 1.98%
Wal-Mart......coooeevcieeeeieeceeee e, Retail..eeeeeciiieeeee e 49,253,101 $ 231,490 1.86%
Lotus Bakeries US LLC.................... Natural Snack Product Manufacturing....... 43,502,662 S 204,463 1.64%
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company)........ Plastics Manufacturing...........cccceeecveeennenn. 42,923,810 $ 201,742 1.62%
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner... Retail......cccccoceeeeviieeieciie e 42,389,129 $ 199,229 1.60%
Keystone at Mebane Oaks, LLC...... Apartment CompleX......cceevveeevcrieeeiieeenns 41,411,560 S 194,634 1.56%
Morinaga America Foods, Inc........ Japanese confectionery........ccceeeveeernnennn. 30,794,748 S 144,735 1.16%
MRE MNC LLC.....ccvvvevveeeiirreeeeeeens Real Estate Holding Company.................... 28,015,300 $ 131,672 1.06%

$470,105,926 $ 2,209,498 17.71%
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Statistical Section

This part of the City of Mebane’s annual comprehensive
financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information say about the government’s
overall financial health.

e Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend
information to help the reader understand how the
government’s financial performance and well-being have
changed over time.

e Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain
information to help the reader assess the government’s
most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

e Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to
help the reader assess the affordability of the
government’s current levels of outstanding debt and the
government’s ability to issue additional debt in the
future.

e Demographic and Economic Information - These
schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within
which the government’s financial activities take place.

e Operating Information - These schedules contain
service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the government’s
financial report relates to the services the government
provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these
schedules is derived from the annual comprehensive financial
report for the relevant year.



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Net investment in capital @ssets..........ccoeveveeerveerennene $ 28,863,807 S 33,039,857 $ 32,011,821 S 34,801,671 S 30,319,096
RESLIICEEA. .. i 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433
UNrestricted......oooceeeecieeceiee e 10,432,825 6,195,064 5,185,319 7,502,406 14,338,635
Total governmental activities net position................ $ 40,051,845 S 41,829,162 S 42,422,887 S 44,893,693 S 47,273,164
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital @ssets.........cccoeveeeeiveerennene $ 29,700,671 $ 31,622,606 S 33,155,614 S 34,178,396 S 34,527,281
[0S 1 T (=T S - - - - -
Unrestricted... 8,348,062 6,415,219 5,635,431 7,589,047 8,948,578
Total business-type activities net position................. $ 38,048,733 $ 38,037,825 $ 38,791,045 S 41,767,443 S 43,475,859
Primary government
Net investment in capital @ssets..........ccoeveeeeireerennene $ 58,564,478 S 64,662,463 S 65,167,435 S 68,980,067 S 64,846,377
Restricted.......coovveeecieeeiieeeee, 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433
Unrestricted 18,780,887 12,610,283 10,820,750 15,091,453 23,287,213
Total primary government activities net position...... $ 78,100,578 S 79,866,987 S 81,213,932 S 86,661,136 $ 90,749,023

Governmental Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Net investment in capital assets..........cccceevervevvereennn $ 40,610,954 $ 44,539,110 S 48,932,506 S 53,020,166 S 58,077,074
RESLIICEEA. ... v 2,757,579 2,844,468 2,535,935 3,005,430 4,324,267
UNrestricted......ooocuieeeiie et 6,147,464 6,328,882 5,788,509 4,859,788 6,266,211
Total governmental activities net position............... $ 49,515,997 $ 53,712,460 57,256,950 $ 60,885,384 S 68,667,552
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.........ccccvevervevvereennn $ 38,122,626 S 38,984,945 45,237,242 S 48,261,754 S 53,706,014
RESLIICLEA. ... i - 586,608 970,910 2,465,362 3,702,258
Unrestricted... 8,413,024 7,619,918 6,837,732 6,635,335 7,956,615
Total business-type activities net position............... $ 46,535,650 $ 47,191,471 53,045,884 $ 57,362,451 S 65,364,887
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets..........cccceevervevvereennn $ 78,733,580 $ 83,524,055 94,169,748 $ 101,281,920 §$ 111,783,088
Restricted........ccovveeeiieeecieeeeee 2,757,579 3,431,076 3,506,845 5,470,792 8,026,525
Unrestricted 14,560,488 13,948,800 12,626,241 11,495,123 14,222,826
Total primary government activities net position..... $ 96,051,647 $ 100,903,931 110,302,834 $ 118,247,835 $ 134,032,439

Notes:

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035;
2017 includes a prior period restatement of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860;

2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).

Business-type Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2
(Page 1 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt... ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on lonNg-term debt.........cceiviririrenenenirrr et

Total governmental activities exper

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and coNtribUtioNS.......c..coueiiiririne et

Total governmental activities program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions...

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs.
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous..........ccoevvvuvreiiuennnne
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic development.
Transfers

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings...
Miscellaneous
TEANSTEIS. ..ttt

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental CtIVITIES. ..o eirriirecrce et
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. eeiueieitieieeiiere et

Change in primary government net position

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
2,143,420 $ 2,133,862 $ 2,130,084 $ 2,058,889 $ 2,023,497
4,571,950 4,400,496 4,929,504 5,521,196 6,132,593
2,879,581 3,887,001 3,848,791 4,169,363 3,907,270
1,224,727 1,179,235 1,163,723 1,288,321 1,195,553
207,551 1,137,040 584,532 1,415,831 461,389
132,923 151,011 178,086 156,676 174,166
11,160,152 12,888,645 12,834,720 14,610,276 13,894,468
3,901,404 4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854
3,901,404 4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854
15,061,556 17,381,840 17,123,677 19,536,741 20,034,322
58,381 60,900 45,470 213,347 58,291
130,897 12,986 13,964 13,905 21,135
316,398 355,012 338,920 420,613 401,609
74,518 75,170 77,245 85,535 86,690

- 222,071 287,110 374,248 427,814
397,732 667,594 498,060 448,823 574,891

2,013,681 912,272 2,157,849 972,045 639,266
2,991,607 2,306,005 3,418,618 2,528,516 2,209,696
4,732,814 5,041,627 5,316,218 7,399,492 6,491,915
1,051,250 203,400 196,230 1,376,780 465,220
5,784,064 5,245,027 5,512,448 8,776,272 6,957,135
8,775,671 7,551,032 8,931,066 11,304,788 9,166,831
(8,168,545) (10,582,640) (9,416,102) (12,081,760) (11,684,772)
1,882,660 751,832 1,223,491 3,849,807 817,281
(6,285,885) (9,830,808) (8,192,611) (8,231,953) (10,867,491)
7,640,328 8,054,225 8,572,861 8,859,077 9,751,487
3,297,348 3,519,938 4,105,041 4,188,891 4,299,798

4,000 7,000 4,500 12,509 3,050
11,943 2,096 4,083 6,399 25,200
40,670 (7,678) 60,600 41,404 69,609

- - (2,691,591) - -
517,500 784,376 393,092 965,000 -
11,511,789 12,359,957 10,448,586 14,073,280 14,149,144
9,706 5,801 259 2,244 6,344
9,865 15,835 15,559 22,773 784,791
(517,500) (784,376) (393,092) (965,000) -
(497,929) (762,740) (377,274) (939,983) 791,135

11,013,860 11,597,217 10,071,312 13,133,297 14,940,279
3,343,244 1,777,317 1,032,484 1,991,520 2,464,372
1,384,731 (10,908) 846,217 2,909,824 1,608,416
4,727,975 $ 1,766,409 $ 1,878,701 $ 4,901,344 $ 4,072,788
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2
(Page 2 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt... ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on lonNg-term debt.........cceciviririrenneninrner et

Total governmental activities expense:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and coNtribUtIONS. ......cc.coveirirerine it

Total governmental activities program revenue

Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and contribUtioNs..........ccceeeeiiniiiiineiieeccceeee e

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental CHIVITIES. ....c.covveiririeircc et
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. eeiueieieieieeiieree et

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:
Taxes.
Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes.....
Grants and contributions not restricted
10 SPECIfIC PrOGrAMS...ceviiiiiiiiieeie ettt bbb esaae e
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous....
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic developmen
Transfers..

Total governmental act
Business-type activities:

Unrestricted investment @arningsS........c.vccueeveecieeeeceeeeeireeeeeeeeree e ereeseeeenes
Miscellaneous.
Transfers

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Change in primary government net position

Notes:

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2,227,259 $ 2,262,074 $ 2,508,794 $ 2,945979 $ 2,838,280
6,567,770 7,070,899 8,045,419 9,046,866 8,660,213
3,885,804 3,803,467 4,939,677 5,273,617 4,824,551
1,301,845 1,900,889 1,677,079 1,931,238 2,064,269
1,879,946 1,269,525 2,005,292 2,225,126 2,260,845
300,632 281,751 257,803 200,005 178,756
16,163,256 16,588,605 19,434,064 21,622,831 20,826,914
6,039,261 6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961 7,656,972
6,039,261 6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961 7,656,972
22,202,517 23,351,553 26,732,400 29,279,792 28,483,886

60,580 1,100 11,850 5,400 4,605
19,941 21,350 17,532 19,750 22,229
422,237 501,353 617,855 701,980 680,282
87,018 92,443 74,138 80,918 141,125
391,359 863,738 742,977 1,233,852 1,317,134
934,764 742,312 957,002 821,868 1,071,973

3,380,460 2,617,102 3,927,560 4,465,736 4,284,192
5,296,359 4,839,398 6,348,914 7,329,504 7,521,540
6,676,309 6,995,810 7,644,617 9,146,098 9,703,779

- - - - 2,045,130

2,508,340 226,820 5,400,880 2,890,267 3,422,692
9,184,649 7,222,630 13,045,497 12,036,365 15,171,601
14,481,008 12,062,028 19,394,411 19,365,869 22,693,141

(10,866,897) (11,749,207) (13,085,150) (14,293,327) (13,305,374)
3,145,388 459,682 5,747,161 4,379,404 7,514,629
(7,721,509) (11,289,525) (7,337,989) (9,913,923) (5,790,745)
10,279,056 10,895,740 11,378,933 11,807,602 13,129,528
4,563,646 4,885,951 5,067,665 5,764,756 7,341,386

3,050 4,050 31,047 191,474 410,380

129,302 180,725 153,113 56,026 12,614
164,578 36,506 427,623 101,903 617,502
(2,003) (57,302) (1,394) - (423,868)

15,137,629 15,945,670 17,056,987 17,921,761 21,087,542

28,295 63,336 89,202 28,073 14,078
193,241 75,501 16,655 (90,910) 49,861
2,003 57,302 1,395 - 423,868
223,539 196,139 107,252 (62,837) 487,807

15,361,168 16,141,809 17,164,239 17,858,924 21,575,349
4,270,732 4,196,463 3,971,837 3,628,434 7,782,168
3,368,927 655,821 5,854,413 4,316,567 8,002,436
7,639,659 $ 4,852,284 $ 9,826,250 $ 7,945,001 $ 15,784,604

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035; 2017 includes a prior period restatement
of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860; 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

General Fund

NONSPENAADIE.......eiieieeeeeee e S - S 20,511 § 27,361 S 116,295 § 51,005

Restricted..... 755,213 2,566,389 5,183,933 2,533,840 2,545,731

Committed - - - - -

ASSIZNEU....ei ittt 1,586,386 1,543,138 1,549,082 1,419,254 1,803,854

UN@SSIZNE....iiiiiiiiiiieecircecree ettt e s ae e eaee e 9,309,149 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988
Total general fund $ 11,650,748 $ 10,742,610 S 11,751,378 $ 11,447,179 S 13,484,578
All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

[ (E Y 1 g Lot (=Y [ - 27,852 41,814 55,776 69,702

CoOMMITEE...cciiiiiiiiee e e - - - - -

1N T4 V=T 316,850 1,925,422 1,181,066 640,198 5,986,376

UNQ@SSIZNEU......eiiiieiieeieeeie et e se et see s eteesee e snaeeseenns - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds.... S 316,850 S 1,953,274 S 1,222,880 § 695,974 S 6,056,078
Total Governmental Funds

NONSPENAADIE.......iieeieeeeeece e S - S 20,511 § 27,361 S 116,295 § 51,005

Restricted..... 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433

Committed - - - - -

ASSIZNEU...eei ittt e 1,903,236 3,468,560 2,730,148 2,059,452 7,790,230

UN@SSIZNE....uiiiiiiiiiieeciree ettt e e e sae e aaee e 9,309,149 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988
Total governmental funds................. $ 11,967,598 $ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 $ 12,143,153 $ 19,540,656

Fund Balances - General Fund
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
General Fund
NONSPENAADIE.......eiieieeeeeee e S 131,945 § 46,552 S 168,052 $ 31,716 $ 32,056
Restricted..... 2,673,951 2,658,975 2,422,768 2,877,971 4,182,828
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU....ei ittt 1,828,000 1,500,000 1,823,718 804,772 2,165,385
UN@SSIZNE....iiiiiiiiiiiieeire ettt e e e saae e eree e 7,563,514 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360 14,347,743
Total general fund $ 12,197,410 $ 13,391,694 S 14,842,317 $ 15,719,819 $ 20,728,012
All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable $ - S - $ - S - S -
RESTIICEE. c.uiii ettt et e 83,628 98,182 113,160 127,459 141,439
COMMILEEd.c..eieieeiieeieeeeree e - - - - -
PN 74 V=T S 1,757,022 884,814 - 566,851 -
UNQASSIZNEU......eiiiieiieeieeeie ettt et see e et e e seeenee e - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds...... S 1,840,650 S 982,996 S 113,160 S 694,310 S 141,439
Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENAADIE.......iieeieeeeeece e S 131,945 § 46,552 S 168,052 §$ 31,716 $ 32,056
Restricted..... 2,757,579 2,757,157 2,535,928 3,005,430 4,324,267
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU...eei ittt e 3,585,022 2,384,814 1,823,718 1,371,623 2,165,385
UN@SSIZNE....uiiiiiiiiiieeciree ettt e e e sae e aaee e 7,563,514 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360 14,347,743
Total governmental funds................... S 14,038,060 $ 14,374,690 S 14,955,477 $ 16,414,129 S 20,869,451

Fund Balances - All Other Governmental Funds
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS.....cooecvvvereeiieirieeeeeccirree e et e eearreeeeeen S 7,322,698 §$ 7,705,045 S 8,207,631 § 8,436,102 S 9,349,863

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uueeiieeecveeiee e 189,355 199,935 190,058 795 960

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........cccceevveeiiieeiciieeccineen, 3,136,030 3,323,889 5,033,302 4,191,306 4,427,170

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccoeceeveevieecieecceeceeseenns 695,117 1,497,810 893,277 880,010 904,619

Permits and fEES.....ccuueiiieiireiee ettt 136,214 244,104 320,358 606,212 482,809

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....evveeie ettt 382,049 416,084 392,832 433,014 444,814

INVeStMeENt @arNiNgS......ccovvuiieiiiiiiiiieee e 11,943 17,190 1,746 6,363 25,200

Miscellaneous 112,033 94,753 260,119 155,294 270,538
Total revenues 11,985,439 13,498,810 15,299,323 14,709,096 15,905,973
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT......ccueieerieeeesieesteeee e e e ae e eseeenns 1,950,508 2,087,742 2,094,055 2,151,509 1,997,039

PUDBIIC SAfety...cccvieieiiieciee et 4,157,723 5,091,637 4,901,955 5,414,023 6,171,044

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiieciieiiee et earae e e 2,818,822 3,708,213 3,708,075 3,733,538 3,268,769

Cultural and recreation........cccvveeeeeeiieeeeeeecieeeee e eeanes 1,110,864 1,195,637 1,318,029 1,466,564 1,056,609

Economic and physical development.........ccccvecceevverieeseeennen. 505,146 3,832,902 703,466 1,466,432 703,062

Debt service:

[ AT a Yol o TSR 426,667 426,667 833,854 835,083 836,338
Interest and other charges.........ccocvveeevieeiviie e, 135,000 119,484 182,646 161,067 139,372

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiiciie e e 116,669 1,437,893 2,138,037 1,276,985 634,567
Total expenditures.........ccccceeeeecicciiriiiiiinsssssnssssnsssssssssssssssnns 11,221,399 17,900,175 15,880,117 16,505,201 14,806,800
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiniiiiine 764,040 (4,401,365) (580,794) (1,796,105) 1,099,173
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (245,000) (245,000) (1,450,000) (856,734) (60,000)

Transfers from other funds. 762,500 1,029,376 1,843,092 1,821,734 60,000

Issuance of debt.......cc......... - 4,345,275 - - 6,298,330
Total other financing sources (uses)... 517,500 5,129,651 393,092 965,000 6,298,330
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniicenens 1,281,540 728,286 (187,702) (831,105) 7,397,503
Fund balances, beginning........ccccceeeieiviiieeiiie e 10,686,058 11,967,598 12,695,884 12,974,258 12,143,153
Prior period adjustment.........ccceocvieivcieeeniieeneeeee e, - - 466,076 - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........cccoccceeviiiiniieenneen. 10,686,058 11,967,598 13,161,960 12,974,258 12,143,153
Fund balances, ending..................... . $ 11,967,598 S 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 S§ 12,143,153 $ 19,540,656
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures............... 5.5% 4.6% 8.2% 7.0% 7.4%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS.....cooecvvvereeiieirieeeeeccirree e et e eearreeeeeen S 9,851,605 $ 10,413,402 $ 10,897,067 S 11,339,347 S 12,631,940

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uueeiieeecveeiee e 1,005 1,030 955 955 805

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........cccceevveeiiieeiciieeccineen, 4,866,039 5,095,144 5,433,058 6,101,360 7,683,475

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccoeceeveevieecieecceeceeseenns 1,265,968 1,589,184 1,262,717 1,154,666 1,231,498

Permits and fEES.....ccuueiiieiireiee ettt 411,580 915,604 811,186 1,338,035 1,388,813

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....evveeie ettt 462,033 494,687 576,421 616,526 701,267

INVeStMeENt @arNiNgS......ccovvuiieiiiiiiiiieee e 129,302 180,725 153,113 56,027 12,615

Miscellaneous 322,138 167,614 524,824 262,594 966,972
Total revenues 17,309,670 18,857,390 19,659,341 20,869,510 24,617,385
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT......ccueieerieeeesieesteeee e e e ae e eseeenns 2,244,898 2,179,611 2,265,058 2,540,663 2,629,542

PUDBIIC SAfety...cccvieieiiieciee et 6,526,581 6,544,785 6,888,994 6,818,514 7,372,689

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiieciieiiee et earae e e 3,400,679 3,113,625 3,048,385 3,888,863 3,519,090

Cultural and recreation........cccvveeeeeeiieeeeeeecieeeee e eeanes 1,828,941 1,445,320 1,343,057 1,293,315 1,538,498

Economic and physical development.........ccccvecceevverieeseeennen. 1,878,174 1,255,070 1,927,454 2,163,879 2,275,921

Debt service:

[ AT a Yol o TSR 1,316,286 1,347,620 1,272,748 1,239,573 1,415,799
Interest and other charges.........ccocvveeevieeiviie e, 306,592 285,412 264,189 211,159 178,525

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiiciie e e 5,739,986 3,652,717 2,068,669 1,685,392 2,597,000
Total expenditures.........ccccceeeeecicciiriiiiiinsssssnssssnsssssssssssssssnns 23,242,137 19,824,160 19,078,554 19,841,358 21,527,064
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiniiiiine (5,932,467) (966,770) 580,787 1,028,152 3,090,321
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (1,726,812) (1,500,000) (1,183,857) (1,144,592) (696,274)

Transfers from other funds. 1,724,810 2,067,932 1,183,857 1,144,592 696,274

Issuance ot debt.................. 431,873 735,468 - 430,500 1,365,000
Total other financing sources (uses)... 429,871 1,303,400 - 430,500 1,365,000
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniicenens (5,502,596) 336,630 580,787 1,458,652 4,455,321
Fund balances, beginning........ccccceeeieiviiieeiiie e 19,540,656 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477 16,414,130
Prior period adjustment.........ccceocvieivcieeeniieeneeeee e, - - - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........cccoccceeviiiiniieenneen. 19,540,656 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477 16,414,130
Fund balances, ending..................... . S 14,038,060 S 14,374,690 S 14,955,477 S 16,414,129 S 20,869,451
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures............... 10.3% 10.2% 8.8% 8.0% 8.4%

Notes:
(1) 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $466,076.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 5
Ratio of
Assessed
Total Value to
Less Tax- Direct Estimated
Fiscal Personal Public Service Exempt Total Taxable Tax  Estimated Actual  Actual
Year Real Property Property Companies Property Assessed Value Rate  Taxable Value Value
2013 1,138,480,584 417,965,044 22,126,189 (8,199,338) 1,570,372,479 0.47  1,489,959,352 105.4%
2014 1,163,814,338 476,296,137 22,343,241 (8,380,262) 1,654,073,454 0.47 1,574,895,032 105.0%
2015 1,171,969,829 498,060,858 22,232,490 (8,580,903) 1,683,682,274 0.49 1,603,949,005 105.0%
2016 1,215,674,661 511,076,370 23,926,263 (9,087,410) 1,741,589,884 0.49 1,648,732,865 105.6%
2017 1,355,230,856 550,037,154 20,701,422 (6,871,152) 1,919,098,280 0.49  1,919,559,215 100.0%
2018 1,519,215,965 576,423,148 21,265,042 (6,231,130) 2,110,673,025 0.47  2,165,774,122 97.5%
2019 1,572,394,043 593,126,106 19,041,041 (2,685,151) 2,181,876,039 0.47  2,238,905,875 97.5%
2020 1,627,662,514 648,540,774 19,264,439 (243,533) 2,295,224,194 0.47  2,449,836,538 93.7%
2021 1,755,206,176 602,162,652 19,101,600 (243,533) 2,376,226,895 0.47  2,542,954,665 93.4%
2022 1,931,258,902 706,724,061 17,085,572 (352,483) 2,654,716,052 0.47  2,872,643,553 92.4%
Sources:

Alamance County and Orange County Tax Departments.

Notes:

Assessed valuations are established by the Alamance County Board of Commissioners at 100% of estimated
market value. A revaluation of real property is required by the North Carolina General Statutes at least every
eight years. Property was last revalued in FY 2018.

Estimated actual taxable value is calculated using information provided in Alamance and Orange County's
Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports (ACFRs).
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Years

(Rates are Per $100 of Assessed Value) Table 6
Direct Rate Overlapping Rates Combined Tax Rate
City of Alamance  Orange Alamance  Orange
Fiscal Year Mebane county™  county? County County
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.540 0.858 1.010 1.328
0.49 0.530 0.858 1.020 1.348
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.47 0.580 0.838 1.050 1.308
0.47 0.590 0.850 1.060 1.320
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338
0.47 0.660 0.819 1.130 1.289

Sources:
™ Alamance County Tax Department.
@ Orange County Tax Department.

Notes:

Overlapping rates are the county government rates that apply to property owners within the City of Mebane.
The City of Mebane is located in both Alamance and Orange counties. Not all overlapping rates apply to al
property owners, but at least one County overlapping rates applies to each property owner.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 7
2022 2013
Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total
Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Value Assessed Taxable Assessed
Taxpayer E Rank Value Assessed Value Rank Value
GKN Automotive Components........ccecceeerueeeriieeennns S 85,655,962 1 3.23% S 101,632,878 1 6.47%
Liggett Group - One Hundred Maple.........ccccevueenen 53,505,837 2 2.02% 68,000,708 2 4.33%
Industrial Connections & Solutions LLC.................... 52,653,817 3 1.98% @
Walmart Stores INCu....ooveeeeerieenienienieeie e 49,253,101 4 1.86% 16,372,001 8 1.04%
Lotus Bakeries US, LLC........cooervvvveessrrrerrresssnsresseonnns 43,502,662 5 1.64% @
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company).......cccccevveerivriinnninnne. 42,923,810 6 1.62% 13,930,219 9 0.89%
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner... 42,389,129 7 1.60% 34,813,065 4 2.22%
Keystone at Mebane Oaks LLC... 41,411,560 8 1.56% @
Morinaga American Foods Inc... 30,794,748 9 1.16% @
MRE MNC LLC....oovvoovoereseesssseeesssssseseesssssssess oo 28,015,300 10 1.06% @
SANAVIK INC.vvvvvrerrerevooseeseesseessees e @ 49,305,583 3 3.14%
Armacell LLC/Armstrong @ 21,569,012 6 1.37%
Carden Place Investors LLC @ 16,868,033 7 1.07%
SPFING FOTESt, LLCureereereeereeereeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeese e seneene @ 13,251,550 10 0.84%
Mebane Packaging / Meadwestvaco..........c.cceeuevene @ 21,569,012 5 1.37%
TOTAl it $470,105,926 17.71% $357,312,061 22.77%

Source:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
M Assessed valuation represents taxes assessed and due in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

@ Not within top ten ranking.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 8
Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
Taxes Levied Collections in

forthe Fiscal ~ Amount  Percentage Subsequent Percentage

Fiscal Year Year ¥ Collected of Levy Years Amount of Levy
7,354,497 7,224,810 98.2% 141,080 7,365,890 100.2%
7,764,524 7,677,173 98.9% 123,702 7,800,875 100.5%
8,223,909 8,175,886 99.4% 79,410 8,255,296 100.4%
8,528,175 8,485,223 99.5% 104,458 8,589,681 100.7%
9,288,710 9,244,828 99.5% 37,563 9,282,391 99.9%
9,815,332 9,785,748 99.7% 56,481 9,842,229 100.3%
10,383,208 10,326,956 99.5% 45,031 10,371,987 99.9%
10,854,564 10,817,844 99.7% 28,350 10,846,194 99.9%
11,273,675 11,233,082 99.6% 23,199 11,256,281 99.8%
12,490,459 12,460,266 99.8% - 12,460,266 99.8%

Sources:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
™ Taxes levied for the fiscal year are not adjusted for discoveries in subsequent years but their collectior
is included in the total collections to date for the year in which they would have been levied.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 9
Governmental
Activities Business-type Activities
General Percentage
Installment Obligation Revenue Installment of Personal
Fiscal Year Financing @ Bonds Bonds Financing @ Total Income " Pper Capita @
2013 3,430,002 570,000 - 2,758,161 6,758,163 1.7% 557
2014 7,348,610 455,000 - 6,788,750 14,592,360 3.5% 1,180
2015, 6,514,756 335,000 - 6,162,611 13,012,367 3.1% 1,032
2016..cciiiiiiieeeee e 5,679,678 215,000 - 5,272,472 11,167,150 2.6% 874
2017 i 11,141,683 95,000 - 4,869,335 16,106,018 3.6% 1,141
2018..cciiiiiiieeee s 10,257,277 - - 4,459,195 14,716,472 3.2% 983
2019..... 9,645,099 - - 4,042,056 13,687,155 2.9% 878
2020..... 8,371,909 - - 3,617,917 11,989,826 2.3% 737
2021..... 7,562,836 - - 3,186,778 10,749,614 1.4% 615
2022, 7,512,035 - 13,573,000 144,563 21,229,598 2.7% 1,172

Notes:
W' see Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

@ Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Outstanding Debt Per Capita Outstanding Debt as a Percentage of
$1,400 Personal Income
4.0%
$1,200
3.5%
$1,000 3.0%
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1)

<o | 0.0%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 10

Percentage of Actual

General Bonded Taxable Value of Per Capita Bonded

Fiscal Year Debt Property W Debt?

2003ttt ettt st st saeenees 570,000 0.04% 47
2004 455,000 0.03% 37
2005, ittt ettt b et b enaan 335,000 0.02% 27
X0 ) TSP UPUP PNt 215,000 0.01% 17
2007 ettt et bt naas 95,000 0.00% 7
2018 - 0.00% -
2009ttt b ae e eneen - 0.00% -
2020t - 0.00% -
2020ttt sttt aeeaean - 0.00% -
2022 - 0.00% -

' see Table 5 for Assessed Value of Taxable Property.

2 See Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

) Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Per Capita Bonded Debt Bonded Debt as a Percentage of Actual
¢50 Taxable Value of Property
0.0%
$45 ?
$4O 0.0% \
$35 0.0% \
$30 0.0%
$25 0.0%
520 0.0% \
315 0.0%
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» 0.0%
S5
0.0%

S0

Page 109



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

As of June 30, 2022 Table 11
Estimated

Share of Direct

Estimated and

Debt Percentage  Qverlapping

Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable™ Debt
Alamance County general obligation debt.........cccceeviveriieienceccecceee S 203,600,622 15.00% $ 30,535,405
Orange County general obligation debt..........ccccceevciiieiciiiieniieeciieeciee e, 128,250,000 2.98% 3,818,269
Subtotal, overlapping debt........cccevieriecieeeeeeee e 34,353,674
City Of Mebane debt.........coceveiieiiecieee e 7,512,035
Total direct and overlapping debt..........cccovieiiiiiiiiiieeieecee e, S 41,865,709

Sources:

Alamance and Orange County debt outstanding provided by Alamance and Orange Counties.

Notes:

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the
City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that
is borne by the residents and businesses of the City. This process recognizes that, when considering the
City's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and
businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident
and, therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government.

™ For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using
taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of
another governmental unit's taxable assessed value that is within the City of Mebane's boundaries and
dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value. Taxable assessed property values as of June 30,
2022 were used to determine the overlapping debt percentage.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 12

Total Net Debt

Legal Debt
Margin as a

Applicable to Legal Debt Percent of Debt
Fiscal Year Debt Limit Limit Margin Limit
125,629,798 12,757,391 112,872,407 89.8%
132,325,876 13,808,094 118,517,782 89.6%
134,694,582 17,117,480 117,577,102 87.3%
139,327,191 17,644,973 121,682,218 87.3%
153,527,862 25,367,821 128,160,041 83.5%
168,853,842 31,431,998 137,421,844 81.4%
174,550,083 20,412,713 154,137,370 88.3%
183,617,936 22,755,008 160,862,928 87.6%
190,098,152 18,470,042 171,628,110 90.3%
2022ttt st nae e 212,377,284 7,512,035 204,865,249 96.5%
Notes:
Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2021:
Assessed valuation.............. S 2,654,716,052
Statutory limit percentage 8.0%
Debt limit - 8.0% Of @SSESSEA VAIUE.......cccvveeeieeeiieeieee ettt eebaee e e eeeaaaees S 212,377,284
Gross debt:
Total boNdEd debt....c..eiieieiee et -
Authorized and UNISSUE DONAS.......cceiriiecieieriee e -
Lease fiNaNCING @BrEEMENTS. .....ccviieieeiieteereeeee e ete ettt et e s e ete e e e sseesneeenreenes 7,512,035
B e =14 o T3 =Y o 7,512,035
Less: statutory deAUCIONS. ... ..iiiiiieeiie ettt sttt e -
Total amount of debt applicable to debt limit (net debt).........cccceevveeiieveiniecieeceeceeeee 7,512,035
LEEAl DBt IMIArEiN....ccueeueeueereieeereereeeeeeeesseseessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessassessens S 204,865,249
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years Table 13
Median value of Median
owner -occupied Family Unemployment
Fiscal Year Population (1) housing (2) Income Median Age (3) Rate (5)
12,128 163,500 * 53,166 35.8 6.2%
12,366 161,000 * 52,586 35.8 * 6.3%
12,613 * 165,800 * 53,029 35.8 * 5.7%
12,774 * 172,400 * 53,029 35.8 * 4.7%
14,117 * 178,700 * 54,430 359 * 4.0%
14,973 * 185,700 * 56,037 35.8 * 4.0%
15,589 * 193,500 * 60,851 34.8 * 3.7%
16,262 * 195,800 * 54,157 34.2 * 4.4%
17,472 * 189,600 * 64,729 34.7 * 5.7%
18,116 * 202,900 * 61,213 35.3 * 4.5%

Note: Many of these data elements are not published annually for cities. Data is estimated using the
ratio of Mebane to Alamance County from the 2020 census and the 2005-2014 American Community
Survey. That ratio was applied back to annual county data to estimate the data for the City of Mebane.

Notes:
(1) Office of State Management and Budget, NC Department of Revenue
(2) U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
United States Census Bureau, Most recent available census data.
(3) American City Survey Fact Finder.
(4) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics
(5) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics

* Data not available - estimated based on trends.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 14
2022(1) 2013(2)
Percentage of Percentage of
Total Total

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
ABB (General Electric) 817 1 4.51% 315 4 5.0%
Walmart Distribution.......c.ccceceeeveeneenieniieniieeseenne 600 2 3.31% * 3)
[ PSS 426 3 2.35% 500 1 8.0%
AKG of America.... 404 4 2.23% 350 3 5.6%
Liggett Group LLC........ceeiiiiiiiiiee e 280 5 1.55% 299 6 4.8%
SPOrts ENAEAVOIS....cuvvieiiiieeiieecieee e e e 275 6 1.52% 311 5 4.9%
Armacell ... 255 7 1.41% 250 7 4.0%
MOFINAZA coeivivieiiiee et 237 8 1.31% * 3)
JAbIl (NYPFO) ettt e 225 9 1.24% 250 8 4.0%
SANAVIK.ceoiieeieeieecc e 168 10 0.93% * 3)
LOTUS. e e e e ee e e e e e e e 160 * 0.88% * (3)
CamMDBIrO..ceiiiicieeeeeeeee e 130 * 0.72% * 3)
Carrier (Walter Kidde)........cccoveeeeeereeiiieccieeccieee, 102 * 0.56% 114 10 1.8%
Ferraro FOOOS.......cuveeniiriiinieenieenieeieesieesiee e 100 * 0.55% * 3)
KiNGSAOWN...cueiiiiiiiiiie e 92 * 0.51% 150 9 2.4%
UPI (Universal PersevaChem INC).......cccceeevveeuvennen. 75 * 0.41% * 3)
West Rock (Meadwestvaco)........ccccueeeeveeecnveeenee. - * 0.00% 400 2 6.4%
Prescient - CloSed........cocueereerieniiineenieniesieeseene * 0.00% * (3)
TOtAl i 4,346 23.99% 2,939 46.9%

Sources:

(1) Human Resource Directors- Phone or Email

(2) Alamance County Area Chamber of Commerce data for closest year available
3) Not available

* Not in top ten this year
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Full-time-Equivalent Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 15
Function / Department 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
General Government:
Mayor & City Council......ceeeuveecreerieecieeinenne, 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
City ManN@ger....cueieeiieeiiiiiiieeeee e erirrreee e 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
City ClerK. .o, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Finance............... 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0
Human ReSOUICES........ccvvuvriiiieeiieeeiiieieeeeen, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0
Tax Collector....ccuiiireieceeceecee e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 - - - - - -
City AtLOINEY. ..o 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Information Technology........cccoeeveecieccenennnen. - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Public BUildings......cceeeveeiieeiieerieeieecreeeiee s 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Public Safety:
Police Department 31.0 31.0 32.0 35.0 35.5 40.0 40.0 40.0 41.0 49.5

Fire Department..........ccoeiviiiviinniiiiiiciiicnnnn, 16.0 16.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 28.0 29.0 29.0 31.0

Economic and Physical Development:

Planning...cc.ueecee e e, 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0

INSPECLIONS...eeviiiiieeiiieeeeeeee e, 3.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 6.0 6.0
Public Works:

SEFEEES..eitiiieeee e 9.0 - - - - - - - - -

Sanitation. ... 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

PUBIIC WOPKS....vviieeeiieecteee e, 5.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 13.0 12.0 14.0 14.0 12.0 14.0

Culture and Recreation:
ReCreation......cccccveeecciiee et 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 10.0
Arts and Community Center 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0

Water and Sewer:
Billing and Metering........ccceeeeevcieenieecveeinenns 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.0
Water distribution and maintenance............. 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 11.0

Waste Collection and Treatment:

Pretreatment - industrial monitoring............. 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Wastewater Treatment Plant... 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 6.0
Laboratory.....cccoeceeecieecieeeeeee e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Sewer mains and lift stations.........cc.ccceeeueennis 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 4.0
[ o] 7 | PRSP 109.5 110.5 1225 1285 131.0 136.5 1455 1475 1525 172.0

Sources:
City of Mebane staff

Notes:

A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).
Full-time-equivalent employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Operating Indicators by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 16
Function 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
General Government
Finance Department
Vendor checks iSSUEM........c.c.cueueureneeececieerirenenenes 3,003 2,952 3,029 3,095 3,104 3,299 3,668 3,613 3,621 3,984
Human Resources
Workers' compensation lost time (days)............ 52 122 - - - - 23 - - -
Employee turnover rate.........coeoveeeeeenirernnenens 7% 3% 5% 9% 5% 9% 4% 6% 12% 13%
Public Safety
Fire Protection
Incident calls 732 823 773 840 909 918 921 919 939 1,175
Structure fires... 303 211 15 19 26 34 21 25 36 49
INSPECLIONS....vvveveeereiereretereree et eeessenes 177 190 186 394 363 250 545 233 188 725
Child passenger seat inspections............cc.evvenee 242 191 154 204 193 237 190 217 107 219
Police Protection
Physical arrests 653 568 501 377 438 482 506 436 274 299
Citations issued.... . 1,489 1,226 1,028 926 1,585 1,522 1,846 1,720 970 1,186
Response to calls/officer initiated activity.......... 15,363 14,942 14,685 16,968 16,363 17,220 19,764 21,718 20,932 22,657
Traffic aCCidents.......ccueueeririnccieirerceeeieeis 583 528 491 620 790 628 809 642 767 813
Public Works
Street resurfacing (miles) 0.54 2.67 1.48 1.48 1.51 1.32 2.20 1.56 4.15 3.35
Refuse collected (tons annually).. 3,267 3,390 3,585 3,880 4,073 4,278 4,594 4,950 5,459 5,454
Homes receiving service 4,522 3,965 4,756 4,527 4,717 5,354 4,965 5,243 5,538 5,867
Recyclables collected (tons annually) 1,063 1,112 1,100 841 862 864 831 1,265 792 1,024
Economic & Physical Development
Inspections
Residential inspections conducted..................... 3,460 5,914 5,212 6,477 7,348 4,765 7,032 7,357 11,159 10,274
Commercial inspections conducted...........c.c...... 332 785 1,462 8,499 9,710 5,449 5,291 2,761 2,214 1,565
Total inspections conducted...........c.coeeurereneees 3,792 6,699 6,674 14,976 17,058 10,214 12,323 10,118 13,373 11,839
Certificates of occupancy issued... 125 131 154 166 216 102 206 207 285 322
Building permits issued 277 228 155 191 143 171 196 259 348 268
Cultural & Recreation
Recreation
Athletics participants........ccceveeeverniniieenenenens 3,140 2,693 2,653 2,744 2,679 2,679 2,923 1,623 1,846 2,933
Water Distribution
ACCOUNTS.....vviiieiieiisietieee ettt e 4,454 4,566 4,744 4,934 5,227 5,471 5,717 5,972 6,008 6,678
Average daily consumption (mgd)........cccceevrvrurenn 1.290 1.350 1.400 1.510 1.880 1.760 1.710 1.707 1.911 1.931
Wastewater Treatment
ACCOUNTS.....vviitecieietet ettt 4,125 4,263 4,424 4,587 4,898 5,034 5,170 5,395 5,564 6,031
Average daily treatment (Mgd)......cccovvvvvrrrvererenenen 1.100 1.340 1.202 1.359 1.373 1.290 1.690 1.570 1.770 1.588

Sources:
Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 17

Function 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Public Safety
Fire Protection

Stations....ooo i 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Fire trucks.....ooceevveeeennieenienienieesceee, 12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13
Police Protection
SEAtiONS...eveiiiiieiiee e 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units........ccoeeeeeeeeeciee e 32 32 30 29 31 39 36 36 36 37
Public Works
Miles of streets.......cccoeeeeieeecireccieeens 52.2 52.4 54.0 54.3 54.7 56.6 58.0 60.1 62.4 65.6
Maintenance vehicles.................. . 56 56 58 58 51 45 29 31 32 32
Miles of sidewalks (linear feet)............. 43.0 43.0 50.1 50.8 54.2 55.3 57.5 59.8 63.6 69.0
Refuse collection trucks.........ccceeueenee. 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7
Cultural & Recreation
Number of parks ......cccceeeveeriieeciineenns 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 9 9 10
Park acreage......cccoeeeeeveceeneeseeceesenne 275 275 275 275 308 308 328 328 362 365
Trails (Miles)....ccveveeecreeeeeceecreecreeeieans 3 3 3 3 3 3 5 5 5 5
Playgrounds........ccceevevveeeereeneenieecieeen, 5 5 5 5 3 4 5 5 6
Baseball/softball diamonds................... 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Soccer fields.......ooooveeeciieeeeeeeeeee, 10 10 10 10 10 10 7 7 7 7
Water and Sewer
Miles of gravity sewer lines................... 88.7 89.1 94.3 97.8 98.6 100.1 113.4 118.8 122.1 1236
Miles of water lines.......ccoceeveeerveneenne. 103.1 104.6 111.3 1113 1149 117.2 117.8 1222 125.8 130.0
Miles of sewer force mains...........c....... 18.7 18.5 18.3 21.9 18.3 18.5 24.2 27.8 27.8 27.8

Miles of storm sewer 57.0 57.6 58.5 61.1 61.8 64.9 65.0 67.6 71.5 81.3

Source:
Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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Compliance Section

This section contains compliance reports for the City’s
Governmental Compliance.

Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United State of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the City of Mebane's
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated November 29, 2022.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Mebane's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Mebane’s financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueer M%owea £ 06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 29, 2022
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM;
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; WITH OMB
UNIFORM GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION
ACT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Mebane, North Carolina, compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit
Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government
Commission, that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of Mebane’s
major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The City of Mebane’s major
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Mebane complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Our
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of City of Mebane and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit
does not provide a legal determination of the City of Mebane's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to City of
Mebane federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion
on City of Mebane’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about
City of Mebane’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we

e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding City of Mebane’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances.

e obtain an understanding of City of Mebane's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Mebane's internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section and above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueet M%owen € K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina

November 29, 2022
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE PROGRAM; REPORT
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; WITH OMB UNIFORM
GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION ACT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program

We have audited the City of Mebane, North Carolina, compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit
Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government
Commission, that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of Mebane’s
major State programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The City of Mebane’s major State
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Mebane complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major State programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Our
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of City of Mebane and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major State program. Our audit
does not provide a legal determination of the City of Mebane's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance
with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements applicable to City of Mebane State programs.

Page 122



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion
on City of Mebane’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about
City of Mebane’s compliance with the requirements of each major State program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we

e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding City of Mebane's compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances.

e obtain an understanding of City of Mebane's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Mebane's internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
State program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a State program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance 1s a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a State program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section and above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
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material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueet M%owes € K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 29, 2022
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not

considered to be material weaknesses Yes X  None Reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted Yes X No
Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes X  None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major federal programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes X  No

Identification of major federal programs:

Federal Assistance Listing No. Names of Federal Program or Cluster

21.027 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Fund

Dollar threshold used to disntinguish between Type A and
Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X  No
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Results

State Awards
Internal control over major State programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major State programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with State Single Audit
Implementation Act Yes

Identification of major State program:

State Program Name

Powell Bill
Building Reuse Grant

X None Reported

Unmodified

Section II. Financial Statement Findings

None reported.
Section I1I. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None reported.
Section IV. State Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None reported.
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

None
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

State/ Federal
Federal Pass-through  (Direct and Passed
Grantor/Pass-through Assistance Grantor's Pass-through) State Through to
Grantor/Program Title Listing No. Number Expenditures Expenditures Subrecipient

Federal Awards:
Cash Programs:

U.S. Dept. of Justice
Direct Program:
Federal Equitable Sharing Funds 16.922 na S 100,507 $ - S -

U.S. Dept. of Treasury
Passed-through the Office of State Budget and Management:
NC Pandemic Recovery Office

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Fund 21.027 2,045,130 - -

Total assistance - federal programs 2,145,637 - -

Cash Assistance:
N.C. Department of Transportation:
Powell Bill na 2000001817 - 497,992 -

N.C. Department of Commerce
Building Reuse Grant na 480,000

One NC Fund na - 65,250 -

Total assistance - state programs - 1,043,242 -

Total assistance S 2,145,637 $ 1,043,242 $ -

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards:

1. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and State awards (SEFSA) includes the federal and State grant activity of the City of
Mebane under the programs of the federal government and the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2022. The information in
this SEFSA is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 US Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Mebane, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City of Mebane.

2. Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following
the cost principles contained in Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to
reimbursement.

3. City of Mebane has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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